

LAMAR COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS PERSONNEL POLICY AND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK



Exhibit "A"

Welcome

Welcome to Lamar County Board of Commissioners! We are delighted that you have chosen to join our organization and hope that you will enjoy a long and successful career with us. As you become familiar with our culture and mission, we hope you will take advantage of opportunities to enhance your career and further Lamar County Board of Commissioners goals.

You are joining an organization that has a reputation for outstanding leadership, innovation, and expertise. Our employees use their creativity and talent to invent innovative solutions, meet new demands, and offer the most effective services. With your active involvement, creativity, and support, the Lamar County Board of Commissioners will continue to achieve its goals. We sincerely hope you will take pride in being an important part of Lamar County Board of Commissioners success.

Please take time to review the personnel policies contained in this handbook. If you have questions, feel free to ask your Department Head/Constitutional Officer or to contact the HR Office.

County Administrator: Sean Townsend

Commissioner, Chairman: Ryran Traylor Commissioner, Vice-Chairman: Nancy Thrash Commissioner, District 1: Jarrod Fletcher Commissioner, District 2: Jason Lovett Commissioner, District 3: Ashley Gilles Commissioner, District 4: Nancy Thrash

Initial Effective Date: 01/01/2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. Employment at Will - 5

II. Equal Opportunity and Commitment to Diversity - 6

Equal Opportunity
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and Reasonable Accommodation
Commitment to Diversity
Harassment/Sexual Harassment Policy and Complaint Procedure

III. Conflicts of Interest and GCIC/CJIS - 9

Conflicts of Interest GCIC/CJIS Records

IV. Employment Relationship - 11

Employment Classification Position Allocations Rate of Pay

Applications and Examinations

Probationary Period

Work Week and Hours of Work

Meal and Rest Breaks

Time Records

Overtime/Compensatory Time

Deductions from Exempt Employees

Direct Deposit

Access to Personnel Files

Employment of Relatives and Domestic Partners

Separation from Employment

Disciplinary Procedures

Serious Misconduct

Complaints and Appeals

Whistleblower Policy

V. Workplace Safety – 22

Drug-Free and Alcohol-Free Workplace Smoke/Vape- Free Workplace Workplace Violence Prevention Weapons Policy Commitment to Safety Closing of County Offices

VI. Use of County Vehicles - 26

Vehicle Fleet Safety Driver's License Driver Qualifications Maintenance of Vehicles Prescription and Non-prescription Drug Use Roadside Work Seat Belt Policy

VII. Workplace Guidelines - 29

Attendance

Job Performance

Outside Employment

Dress and Grooming

Social Media Acceptable Use

Bulletin Boards

Solicitation

Computers, Internet, Email, and Other Resources

Cell Phone Policy

Verification of Employment

VIII. Holidays, Paid Time Off and Leaves of Absence – 36

Holidays

Paid Time Off

Compensation for Paid Time Off upon Separation

Donation of PTO

Family and Medical Leave

Military Leave

Bereavement Leave

Jury Duty/Court Appearance

Time Off for Voting

IX. Employee Benefits - 43

Medical Insurance

Dental and Vision Insurance

Brella

Basic Life and AD&D Insurance

Employee, Spouse, Child Life Insurance (Voluntary)

Short-Term Disability (Voluntary)

Long-Term Disability (Voluntary)

Employee Assistance Program

X. Retirement – 45

Defined Benefit Pension Plan 457(b) Deferred Compensation

XI. Worker's Compensation - 46

XII. Definitions - 47

XIII. Notices and Forms

I. Employment at Will

Employment at Lamar County Board of Commissioners is on an at-will basis unless otherwise stated in a written individual employment agreement signed by the County Administrator and the Lamar County Board of Commission Chairman.

This means that either the employee or the County may terminate the employment relationship at any time, for any reason, with or without notice.

Nothing in this Personnel Policy or Employee Handbook is intended to create an employment agreement, express or implied. Nothing contained in this, or any other document provided to the employee is intended to be, nor should it be, construed as a contract that employment or any benefit will be continued for any period of time. In addition, no County representative is authorized to modify this policy for any employee or to enter into any agreement, oral or written, that changes the at-will relationship.

Any salary figures provided to an employee in annual or monthly terms are stated for the sake of convenience or to facilitate comparisons and are not intended and do not create an employment contract for any specific period of time.

Nothing in this statement is intended to interfere with, restrain, or prevent concerted activity as protected by the National Labor Relations Act. Such activity includes employee communications regarding wages, hours, or other terms or conditions of employment. Lamar County Board of Commission employees have the right to engage in or refrain from such activities.

II. Equal Opportunity and Commitment to Diversity

Equal Opportunity

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners provides equal employment opportunities to all employees and applicants for employment without regard to race, color, ancestry, national origin, gender, sexual orientation, marital status, religion, age, disability, gender identity, results of genetic testing, or service in the military. Equal employment opportunity applies to all terms and conditions of employment, including hiring, placement, promotion, termination, layoff, recall, transfer, leave of absence, compensation, and training.

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners expressly prohibits any form of unlawful employee harassment or discrimination based on any of the characteristics mentioned above. Improper interference with the ability of other employees to perform their expected job duties is absolutely not tolerated.

Any employees with questions or concerns about equal employment opportunities in the workplace are encouraged to bring these issues to the attention of the HR/Payroll Director. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners will not allow any form of retaliation against individuals who raise issues of equal employment opportunity. If an employee feels he or she has been subjected to any such retaliation, he or she should bring it to the attention of the HR/Payroll Director.

Retaliation means adverse conduct taken because an individual reported an actual or perceived violation of this policy, opposed practices prohibited by this policy, or participated in the reporting and investigation process described below. "Adverse conduct" includes but is not limited to:

- (1) shunning and avoiding an individual who reports harassment, discrimination, or retaliation; or
- (2) express or implied threats or intimidation intended to prevent an individual from reporting harassment, discrimination, or retaliation; or
- (3) denying employment benefits because an applicant or employee reported harassment, discrimination or retaliation or participated in the reporting and investigation process.

Complaints of discrimination should be filed according to the procedures described in the Harassment and Complaint Procedure.

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and Reasonable Accommodation

To ensure equal employment opportunities to qualified individuals with a disability, Lamar County Board of Commissioners will make reasonable accommodations for the known disability of an otherwise qualified individual, except where undue hardship on the operation of the business would result. Employees who may require reasonable accommodation should contact the HR/Payroll Director.

Commitment to Diversity

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners is committed to creating and maintaining a workplace in which all employees have an opportunity to participate and contribute to the success of the business and are valued for their skills, experience, and unique perspectives. This commitment is embodied in County policy and the way we do business at Lamar County Board of Commissioners and is an important principle of sound business management.

Harassment/Sexual Harassment Policy and Complaint Procedure

Sexual and other unlawful harassment is a violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Title VII), as amended, as well as many state laws. Harassment based on a characteristic protected by law, such as race, color, ancestry, national origin, gender, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, marital status, religion, age, disability, veteran status, or other characteristic protected by state or federal law, is prohibited.

It is the Lamar County Board of Commissioners' policy to provide a work environment free of sexual and other harassment. To that end, harassment of Lamar County Board of Commissioners' employees by management, supervisors, coworkers, or non-employees who are in the workplace is absolutely prohibited. Further, any retaliation against an individual who has complained about sexual or other harassment or retaliation against individuals for cooperating with an investigation of a harassment complaint is similarly unlawful and will not be tolerated. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners will take all steps necessary to prevent and eliminate unlawful harassment.

Definition of Unlawful Harassment. "Unlawful harassment" is conduct that has the purpose or effect of creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment; has the purpose or effect of substantially and unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance; or otherwise adversely affects an individual's employment opportunities because of the individual's membership in a protected class.

Unlawful harassment includes, but is not limited to; epithets slurs, jokes, pranks, innuendo, comments, cruel comments, belittling, and insults, written or graphic material, stereotyping, or other threatening, intentional isolation, ignoring, and excluding co-workers, hostile, or intimidating acts based on race, color, ancestry, national origin, gender, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, religion, age, disability, veteran status, or other characteristic protected by state or federal law.

Definition of Sexual Harassment. While all forms of harassment are prohibited, special attention should be paid to sexual harassment. "Sexual harassment" is generally defined under both state and federal law as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature where:

- Submission to or rejection of such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of any individual's employment or as a basis for employment decisions; or
- Such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment.

Other sexually oriented conduct, whether intended or not, that is unwelcome and has the effect of creating a work environment that is hostile, offensive, intimidating, or humiliating to workers may also constitute sexual harassment.

While it is not possible to list all those additional circumstances that may constitute sexual harassment, the following are some examples of conduct that, if unwelcome, may constitute sexual harassment depending on the totality of the circumstances, including the severity of the conduct and its pervasiveness:

- Unwanted sexual advances, whether they involve physical touching or not;
- Sexual epithets, jokes, written or oral references to sexual conduct, gossip regarding one's sex life, comments about an individual's body, comments about an individual's sexual activity, deficiencies, or prowess;
- Displaying sexually suggestive objects, pictures, or cartoons;
- Unwelcome leering, whistling, brushing up against the body, sexual gestures, or suggestive or insulting comments;

- Inquiries into one's sexual experiences; and
- Discussion of one's sexual activities.

All employees should take special note that, as stated above, retaliation against an individual who has complained about sexual harassment or unlawful harassment and retaliation against individuals for cooperating with an investigation of sexual harassment or unlawful harassment complaint is unlawful and will not be tolerated by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners

Complaint Procedure. Any employee who believes they have been subjected to or witnessed illegal discrimination, including sexual or other forms of unlawful harassment, is requested, and encouraged to make a complaint. You may complain directly to your Department Head/ Constitutional Officer, the HR/Payroll Director, or any other member of management with whom you feel comfortable bringing such a complaint. Similarly, if you observe acts of discrimination toward or harassment of another employee, you are requested and encouraged to report this to one of the individuals listed above.

No reprisal, retaliation, or other adverse action will be taken against an employee for making a complaint or report of discrimination or harassment or for assisting in the investigation of any such complaint or report. Any suspected retaliation or intimidation should be reported immediately to one of the persons identified above.

All complaints will be investigated promptly and, to the greatest extent possible, confidentially.

If the investigation confirms conduct contrary to this policy has occurred, Lamar County Board of Commissioners will take immediate, appropriate, corrective action, including discipline, up to and including immediate termination.

III. Conflicts of Interest and GCIC/CJIS

Conflicts of Interest

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners expects all employees to conduct themselves and County business in a manner that reflects the highest standards of ethical conduct and in accordance with all federal, state, and local laws and regulations. This includes avoiding real and potential conflicts of interests.

Exactly what constitutes a conflict of interest, or an unethical business practice is both a moral and a legal question. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners recognizes and respects the individual employee's right to engage in activities outside of employment which are private in nature and do not in any way conflict with or reflect poorly on the County.

It is not possible to define all the circumstances and relationships that might create a conflict of interest. If a situation arises where there is a potential conflict of interest, the employee should discuss this with a manager for advice and guidance on how to proceed. The list below suggests some of the types of activity that indicate improper behavior, unacceptable personal integrity, or unacceptable ethics:

- 1. Simultaneous employment by another firm that is a competitor of or supplier to the Lamar County Board of Commissioners.
- 2. Carrying on County business with a firm in which the employee, or a close relative of the employee, has a substantial ownership or personal interest.
- 3. Holding a substantial interest in, or participating in the management of, a firm to which the County makes sales or from which it makes purchases.
- 4. Borrowing money from vendors or firms, other than recognized loan institutions, from which the County buys services, materials, equipment, or supplies.
- 5. Accepting substantial gifts or excessive entertainment from an outside organization or agency.
- 6. Speculating or dealing in materials, equipment, supplies, services, or property purchased by the County.
- 7. Participating in civic or professional organization activities in a manner that divulges confidential County information.
- 8. Misusing privileged information or revealing confidential data to outsiders.
- 9. Using one's position in the County or knowledge of its affairs for personal gains.
- 10. Engaging in practices or procedures that violate antitrust laws, commercial bribery laws, copyright laws, discrimination laws, campaign contribution laws, or other laws regulating the conduct of County business.

GCIC/CJIS Records

The purpose of this section is to establish guidelines in regards to misuse or violations concerning the GCIC CJIS Network, materials, records, and information obtained thereof.

This applies to all County employees, non-paid employees, and vendors/contractors with access to include physical and logical access, to GCIC materials, records, and information. All employees, non-paid employees,

and vendors/contractors are required to follow the policies, rules, and procedures set forth by GCIC, GCIC Council Rules, CJIS Security Policy, and the laws of the State of Georgia.

Title 28, United States Code 534, authorized dissemination of Criminal History Record Information (CHRI) and provides that access to CHRI is subject to cancellation if dissemination is made outside of the authorized recipient. In addition, O.C.G.A. establishes criminal penalties for specific offenses involving requesting, obtaining, using and/or disseminating CHRI except as permitted by law.

Disciplinary action will be taken for general working errors that involve violations which are determined to be accidental errors or errors made due to the need for Security Awareness Training. The severity of the error will be evaluated by the County Administrator or designee. Disciplinary Procedures are found in Section IV.

IV. Employment Relationship

Employment Classification

In order to determine eligibility for benefits and overtime status and to ensure compliance with federal and state laws and regulations, the Lamar County Board of Commissioners classifies its employees as shown below. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners may review or change employee classifications at any time.

Exempt. Exempt employees are paid on a salaried basis and are not eligible to receive overtime pay.

Nonexempt. Nonexempt employees are paid on an hourly basis and are eligible to receive overtime pay for overtime hours worked. Compensation for overtime will be in accordance with the provisions of the federal and state law. Lamar County Board of Commissioners will allow compensatory time off in lieu of overtime.

Regular, Full-Time. Employees who are not in a temporary status work a minimum of 40 hours weekly and maintain continuous employment status. Generally, these employees are eligible for the full-time benefits package and are subject to the terms, conditions, and limitations of each benefits program.

Regular, Part-Time. Employees who are not in a temporary status and who are regularly scheduled to work fewer than 30 hours weekly and who maintain continuous employment status.

Temporary, Full-Time. Employees who are hired as interim replacements to temporarily supplement the workforce or to assist in the completion of a specific project and who are temporarily scheduled to work the County's full-time schedule for a limited duration. Employment beyond any initially stated period does not in any way imply a change in employment status.

Temporary, Part-Time. Employees who are hired as interim replacements to temporarily supplement the workforce or to assist in the completion of a specific project and who are temporarily scheduled to work fewer than 30 hours weekly for a limited duration. Employment beyond any initially stated period does not in any way imply a change in employment status.

Position Allocations

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners and County Administrator have implemented a Master Classification Plan:

New Positions. When a new position is to be established, HR will complete a Personnel Request Form to be approved by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners and the County Administrator. The Department Head/Constitutional Officer involved shall complete a position description covering the duties and responsibilities of such a new position. The County Administrator shall allocate the position to one of the classes in the classification plan, unless a suitable classification does not exist, in which case the County Administrator shall recommend that the County Commission establish a new classification. Upon the recommendation and approval of such new classification by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners, the County Administrator shall allocate the new position to it.

Allocation Appeals. If an employee has reason to believe that his or her position has been improperly allocated, such employee may, with the knowledge of the Department Head/Constitutional Officer, request the Lamar County Board of Commissioners review the allocation of such position. Any such request must be submitted in writing and contain a statement of justification.

Departmental Reorganization. Each time a Department/Office under the jurisdiction of a Department Head/Constitutional Officer is significantly reorganized, such Department Head/Constitutional Officer shall submit a Personnel Request Form for all affected positions to HR/Payroll Director who in turn will provide them to the County Administrator/Lamar County Board of Commissioners for approval.

Changes in Duties of Position. The County Administrator may require Departments/Offices or employees to submit position descriptions on a periodic basis to him or her when there is reason to believe that there has been a change in the duties and responsibilities of one or more positions.

New and Abolished Positions. Each time a new position is established or abolished; a Personnel Request Form will be completed by the HR/Payroll Office. A new position description shall be written and incorporated into the Master Classification Plan and an abolished position will be deleted from the Master Classification Plan.

Rate of Pay

New employees shall typically be paid the minimum rate of pay for the classification to which they are assigned, subject to the following exceptions:

- 1. If an employee in a particular position does not meet the minimum qualifications stated in the job description or if certain classifications of work require a formalized training period that is of unusual duration, the needs of the County can best be met by placing an individual in a training capacity. Employment in a "trainee" position shall be at a salary range below the minimum rate established for the classification at a rate not more than two pay grades below the grade.
- 2. If an employee exceeds the minimum qualifications for the position, such an employee may be started at a higher classification. Approval of the County Administrator and the Lamar County Board of Commissioners are required in such instances.

Rehire/Reinstatement. If a former full-time employee who left employment with Lamar County in good standing and/or left through no fault of their own is rehired within one (1) year, that person will be eligible for service restoration provided the following are met:

Service Restoration Rules for Eligible Employees. If a former employee with less than one year of prior service is rehired, the employee will be considered a new employee and will not be eligible for prior service recognition for seniority or benefit plan participation purposes. If a former employee with more than one year of prior service is rehired, the employee's seniority will be bridged if the employee is rehired where the period of prior county service exceeded the duration of the period of absence. Service recognition will include prior service recognition for accrued leave plans. If an employee is hired within the same year and was paid out for their leave the employee will not be eligible for leave until the beginning of the next year. If longer than one year, then the employee gets their leave back as soon as they are rehired. If a former employee with more than one year of prior service is rehired where the duration of the period of absence exceeded the period of prior county service, the employee will be considered a new employee and will not be eligible for prior service recognition for seniority purposes.

Promotion. An employee will be considered promoted when: The employee is transferred to a position classified in a higher pay range; the employee's position is reclassified to a classification having a higher pay range, or the "trainee" meets the minimum requirements for the job for which he or she was hired. Promotions may occur within a department or between departments. At the time an employee is promoted to an approved position in a classification with a higher pay range, a salary increase may be granted upon approval and is signed by the County Administrator and Chairman.

Demotion. An employee will be considered demoted when the employee is placed in a different classification having a lower pay range or the employee's position is reclassified to a classification having a lower pay range. When an employee receives a demotion of the type stated above, such an employee's pay may remain unchanged or may be reduced at the discretion of the County Administrator and Commissioners.

Increases in Salaries. Increases in pay for County employees shall be governed by the following principles:

- 1. The pay plan consists of various pay grades. The County Administrator/Commissioners may add or delete pay grades as deemed necessary.
- 2. Each pay grade shall have a pay range with an entry rate and steps placed at 2.5 percent intervals.
- 3. After an employee reaches the maximum rate within a pay grade, such employee shall only be entitled to across-the-board salary adjustments and merit payments in bonus form.
- 4. In order for an employee to receive a pay increase or higher pay grade, the following are required:
- recommendation by the Department Head/Constitutional Officer;
- increase has been properly budgeted; and
- approval by the County Administrator and approval of the Lamar County Board of Commissioners.
- 5. Upon the adoption of the annual budget, the County Administrator/Commissioners shall determine what percentage increase, if any, will be allotted for increases to employee salaries.
- 6. Employees below the top step of their grade whose work is exceptional may be granted a special merit increase. A special two-step merit increase requires the written justification and recommendation of both the Department Head/Constitutional Officer and County Administrator and the approval of the Lamar County Board of Commissioners.

Applications and Examinations

Announcement of Vacant Positions. Except as otherwise provided below, all vacancies shall be publicized by posting announcements on the official bulletin board in the County Administration Building and forwarded to all Department Heads/Constitutional Offices to place on their bulletin boards. The announcements shall specify the titles of vacant positions and qualification requirements. All vacancies shall be posted in-house for a period of three (3) working days. After the completion of the three (3) day in-house posting, the vacancy will be posted in the local newspaper and on the County's Official Website. Applications will be accepted in the Administrative Office by the HR/Payroll Director.

Application Forms. All applicants for positions with the Lamar County Board of Commissioners may apply with the HR/Payroll Director. All applicants shall provide proof of citizenship as required by federal law and E-Verify. Such forms shall require information concerning training, experience, and other pertinent information and shall be signed by the applicant. No person shall be employed by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners unless and until such person has made an application with HR/Payroll Director, interviewed, offered a job, completed physical, drug screen and background check.

Employment Requirements. All positions with the Lamar County Board of Commissioners shall be open only to persons who meet the requirements listed on the job announcement/job description. Such requirements may include but are not limited to experience, education, and training.

Receipt and Duration of Applications. Applications from all persons desiring employment with the Lamar County Board of Commissioners may be accepted during regular business hours (M-F, 8:00 am to 5:00 pm) in the Administrative Office by the HR/Personnel Director. Applicants must complete a new application for each announced position vacancy.

Rejection of Applications. The HR/Payroll Director may reject an application that indicates that the applicant is deficient in any or all of the requirements as specified in the job announcement/job description of the vacancy. An applicant may also be rejected for fraud or deception in the completion of the application or if the employee's past record of employment is determined to be unsatisfactory by the HR/Payroll Director. The applicable Department Head/Constitutional Officer will be notified of all rejections.

Open Competitive Employment. Positions to be filled by recruitment from outside the Lamar County Board of Commissioners shall be filled through a competitive process open to the public. This process may include, but not be limited to, ratings of training and experience, job-related tests, or any combination of these as determined by the Department Head/Constitutional Officer. Factors such as education, job-related qualifications, and experience may be considered in making employment decisions. The HR/Payroll Director will require the applicant to submit proof of education and military service or other necessary documentation.

Testing. Upon offer of open position, the applicant must sign documents authorizing the Lamar County Board of Commissioners to send the applicant for a criminal background check, drug test, physical and to obtain a seven (7) year MVR. Applicants should list recently used prescriptions and over-the-counter medications or other products that may show positive during drug testing to be provided to the laboratory/testing facility prior to testing.

Probationary Period

The probationary period is designed to allow the employee and the Department Head/Constitutional Officer time to determine if the employee is capable of satisfactorily performing the duties of the position prior to being included in the classified service. The probationary period shall be three (3) months.

Work Week and Hours of Work

The standard workweek is from Monday through Friday 8:00 a.m. until 5:00 p.m. and generally consists of 40 work hours. Office hours are 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. with a 1-hour lunch break. Individual work schedules may vary depending on the needs of each department/office.

Meal Breaks and Rest Periods

Employees are allowed a 1-hour unpaid meal break each day. If a nonexempt employee is required to work through a meal break, then the employee will be paid for the 1-hour period. Meal breaks will be scheduled by the Department Heads/Constitutional Officers. Neither the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) nor Georgia law require breaks be given to workers, however, employees who are working outside in the heat/cold (i.e., Public Works/Recreation/Maintenance) will be allowed one 15-minute rest period midway from start of work and lunch and one 15-minute rest period midway between lunch and the end of the day if needed (to be determined by the Department Head) for employee safety. All other employees will be allowed to take two 5-minute breaks per day. This time will not be used to extend lunch periods, come in late or leave early.

Time Records

All Department Heads/Constitutional Officers are required to complete accurate biweekly time reports showing all time actually worked. These records are required to be maintained by the Fair Labor Standard Act (FLSA) which include hours worked and wages earned. At the end of each pay period, the Department Head /Constitutional Officer must sign the time sheet attesting to its correctness before forwarding it to the HR Office.

Overtime/Compensatory Time

The FLSA allows state and local government employers to give their employees compensatory time instead of overtime pay, at a rate of **one-and-a-half hours for each hour of overtime**. Compensation for overtime will be in accordance with the provisions of the federal and state law. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners will allow compensatory time off in lieu of overtime. The FLSA's minimum wage and overtime pay requirements do not apply to certain "exempt" employees, whether in the public or private sector. Overtime/compensatory time is actual hours worked in excess of 40 in a single workweek (The Fire Department/Sheriff's Office may vary). All overtime/compensatory time worked must be approved in advance by each Department Head/ Constitutional Officer unless it is in an emergency situation. It shall be the responsibility of the Department Head/Constitutional Officer to manage compensatory time. All earned and used compensatory time must be accurately recorded and reported to the HR Office each pay period. Compensatory time earned should be used within three (3) months and **must** be used prior to the end of the calendar year.

Classification as Exempt or Non-Exempt All employees will be classified as either "exempt" or "non-exempt" according to the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") and its governing regulations. These classifications are established by the County based upon the prevailing law and the actual duties and compensation earned by each employee. The County is not required to compensate employees who are exempt under the FLSA for overtime work. In contrast, the County is obligated to compensate employees who are deemed non-exempt under the FLSA for overtime work and does so according to the FLSA and the policies set forth herein. It is the expressed intent of Lamar County to strictly comply with the FLSA regarding overtime payment. The County will allow compensatory time off in lieu of overtime.

Rate of Overtime/Compensatory Time. Employees who perform overtime/compensatory work shall be allowed compensatory time off at the rate of one and one-half times their regular rate of pay.

Deductions from Exempt Employees

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners does not make improper deductions from the salaries of exempt employees and complies with the salary basis requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA). Employees classified as exempt from the overtime pay requirements of the FLSA will be notified of this classification at the time of hire or change in position.

Permitted deductions. The FLSA limits the types of deductions that may be made from the pay of an exempt employee. Deductions that are permitted include:

- Deductions that are required by law, e.g., income taxes;
- Deductions for employee benefits when authorized by the employee;
- Absence from work for one or more full days for personal reasons other than sickness or disability;
- Absence from work for one or more full days due to sickness or disability if the deduction is made in accordance with a bona fide plan, policy, or practice of providing compensation for salary lost due to illness;
- Offset for amounts received as witness or jury fees, or for military pay; or

• Unpaid disciplinary suspensions of one or more full days imposed in good faith for workplace conduct rule infractions.

During the week an exempt employee begins work for the Lamar County Board of Commissioners or during the last week of employment, the employee will only be paid for actual hours worked. In addition, an employee may be paid only for hours worked during a period when the employee is using unpaid leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) or approved Leave Without Pay Request.

Improper deductions. If an employee classified as exempt believes that an improper deduction has been taken from their pay, the employee should immediately report the deduction to the HR/Payroll Director. The report will be promptly investigated and if it is found that an improper deduction has been made, the Lamar County Board of Commissioners will reimburse the employee for the improper deduction.

Direct Deposit

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners' pay periods for all employees are biweekly the following Thursday after the end of a pay period. Department Heads/Constitutional Officers will be notified in advance if the pay period changes due to a holiday. Paychecks will only be directly deposited into an employee's checking and/or savings account.

Access to Personnel Files

Employee files are maintained by the HR/Payroll Office and are considered confidential except where otherwise provided by the Georgia Open Records Act. Department Heads and Constitutional Officers may only have access to an employee's file on a need-to-know basis and with approval from the County Administrator. Personnel file access by current employees and former employees will only be granted upon written request to the County and will generally be permitted within 3 days of the request unless otherwise required under state law. Personnel files are to be reviewed in the HR Office. Employee files may not be taken outside the HR Office. Representatives of government or law enforcement agencies, in the course of their duties, may be allowed access to file information with approval from the County Administrator.

Employment of Relatives and Domestic Partners

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners may hire relatives and domestic partners if (1) the persons concerned will not work in a direct supervisory relationship, and (2) the employment will not pose difficulties for supervision, security, safety, or morale. For the purposes of this policy, "relatives" are defined as spouses, children, siblings, parents, grandparents, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, or daughter-in-law. A "domestic partnership" is generally defined as a committed relationship between two individuals who are sharing a home or living arrangements.

Current employees who marry each other or become involved in a domestic partnership will be permitted to continue employment with the County provided they do not work in a direct supervisory relationship with each other or otherwise pose difficulties as mentioned above. If employees who marry or live together do work in a direct supervisory relationship with each other, the Lamar County Board of Commissioners will attempt to reassign one of the employees to another position for which they are qualified if such a position is available. If no such position is available, the employees will be permitted to determine which one of them will resign from the County.

Separation from Employment

In all cases of voluntary resignation (one initiated by the employee) employees are asked to provide a written notice to their Department Heads/Constitutional Officers at least 10 working days in advance of the last day of work. The 10 days must be actual working days. Holidays and PTO will not be counted toward the 10-day notice. Employees who provide the requested amount of notice will be considered to have resigned in good standing and generally will be eligible for rehire.

Department Heads/Constitutional Officers are responsible for collecting all County property and informing the HR Office if all equipment has been turned in. If applicable, information regarding benefits continuation through the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) will be sent to the employee's home address by the insurance broker.

Should it become necessary because of business conditions to reduce the number of employees or work hours, this will be done at the discretion of the Lamar County Board of Commissioners.

Types of Separation from Classified Service. Separations and/or terminations from positions in the classified service shall be designated as one of the following:

- 1. Resignation.
- 2. Abandonment of job.
- 3. Lay-off or reduction in force.
- 4. Dismissal or discharge.
- 5. Retirement.
- 6. Death.

Resignation. An employee shall submit to the Department Head written notice of resignation at least ten (10) business days in advance of the date of resignation. Immediately upon receipt of such notice of resignation, the Department Head shall forward the same to the HR/Payroll Director. Failure to comply with this rule shall be entered on the service record of the employee.

Abandonment of Job. An employee who is absent from work for three (3) consecutive workdays without having received leave approval or without having called in to report the absence will be considered as voluntarily abandoning their job. This separation will not be in good standing and my affect opportunities for reemployment.

Lay-off or Reduction in Force. Any involuntary separation not related to an employee's conduct should constitute a lay-off or reduction in force.

Reasons. Georgia is an at will state and does not require a reason to terminate any employee. Any employee may be laid off because of changes in the County's budget affecting the employee's position, abolishment of the position, material changes in duties or organization, or related reasons beyond the employer's or the employee's control that do not reflect dissatisfaction with the service of the employee. The duties previously performed by any laid-off employee may be reassigned to other employees holding positions in appropriate classes.

1. **Notice to Department Head.** Whenever the layoff of any employee becomes necessary, the County Administrator shall notify the Department Head/Constitutional Officer as far in advance of the intended action as practicable of the necessity and the reasons of such layoff. The Department Head shall thereupon furnish to

the County Administrator the names and job titles of the employees to be laid off and the order in which such lay-off shall be affected.

- **2. Order of Lay-off:** Should it become necessary to reduce the number of employees within a given classification in any department, such employees shall be laid off by reverse seniority order.
- **3. Notice to Employees:** Regular employees to be laid off shall be notified in writing by the HR/Payroll Director fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the effective date of the lay-off, if practicable.
- **4. Demotions:** Any regular employee scheduled to be laid off shall have the right to be demoted to a lower classification, provided that a vacancy exists, and such employee is qualified to fill the position in the lower classification and if the lay-off is not due to dissatisfaction with employee's performance.

All layoffs and reductions in force shall be first approved by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners and County Administrator.

Retirement. Retirement means the voluntary separation of an employee who has met the requirements of age and length of service under the laws governing any applicable pension fund of which such employee may be a member. All employees who retire with at least ten (10) years of service shall receive a plaque from the county. The county reserves the right to require eligible employees to retire at ages earlier than those stated above when it has been medically determined and approved by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners/County Administrator. Such factors may include but are not limited to the fact that age-related degenerative conditions(s) have rendered an employee incapable of safely and efficiently performing all duties of his/her assigned position.

Death. Separation shall be effective as of the date of the death of the employee. All compensation, including annual leave pay, due to such employee, as of the effective date of separation, shall be paid to the beneficiary of the employee, the surviving spouse of such employee, or to the estate of such employee, as may be determined by law or by the applicable executed documents in the personnel folder of such employee.

Disciplinary Procedure

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners expects employees to comply with the standards of behavior and performance and to correct any noncompliance with these standards.

Conduct Subject to Disciplinary Action:

- 1. Indictment for or conviction of or a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to a felony or of a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude.
- 2. Absenteeism.
- 3. Absence without leave or failure to report after the expiration of a leave of absence.
- 4. Tardiness.
- Abuse of leave.
- 6. Insubordination or breach of proper discipline.
- 7. Inefficiency or incompetence after proper documentation and counseling.
- 8. Abuse or theft of County property.

- 9. Borrowing/Misappropriating County equipment.
- 10. Loss of a job requirement, such as the loss of a necessary license, which prevents the adequate performance of the essential functions of the position.
- 11. Making false statements to Department Heads/Constitutional Officers, officials, the public, boards, commissions, or agencies.
- 12. Violating County ordinances, regulations, or departmental rules.
- 13. If it is discovered at any time an employee falsified any part of his or her application.
- 14. Consumption, sale, or possession of alcoholic beverages and/or illegal substances while at work or being under the influence or being otherwise affected on the job because of the prior use of such substance.
- 15. Accepting gratuities in conflict with state law or County ordinance.
- 16. Political activity in conflict with Section 19 of these Policies and Procedures.
- 17. Engaging in offensive conduct or using offensive language toward the public, supervisory personnel, or fellow employees.
- 18. Harassment on the basis of race, color, sex, religion, national origin, citizenship, age, or disability as provided in Section 17 of these Policies and Procedures.
- 19. Unsafe operation of equipment or destruction of material or property.
- 20. Ignoring safety rules or safety procedures.
- 21. Unexcused or excessive tardiness or absences after proper documentation and counseling.
- 22. Failure to follow the chain of command. (Exceptions are sexual harassment, discrimination, and other sensitive issues where the Department Head/Constitutional Officer has been alleged to be the aggressor.) Each employee shall follow the chain of command unless the complaint involves a member of that chain. If so, the employee shall report immediately to the next in command without fear of retribution.

Under normal circumstances, the Lamar County Board of Commissioners endorses a policy of progressive discipline in which it attempts to provide employees with notice of deficiencies and an opportunity to improve. It does, however, retain the right to administer discipline in any manner it sees fit. This policy does not modify the status of employees as employees-at-will or in any way restrict the Lamar County Board of Commissioners right to bypass the disciplinary procedures suggested.

The following steps are suggested in the discipline procedure. All steps should be documented in the employee's personnel file.

Step 1: Informal Discussion/Counseling. When a performance problem is first identified, the nature of the problem and the action necessary to correct it should be thoroughly discussed with the employee. The Department Head/Constitutional Officer and Human Resource Director should meet with the employee and (a) review the problem, (b) permit the employee to present his or her views on the problem, (c) advise the employee that the problem must be corrected, (d) inform the employee that failure to correct the problem will result in further disciplinary action which may include termination, and (e) issue a counseling notice to the employee.

Step 2: Reprimand. If satisfactory performance and corrective action are not achieved under Step 1, the Department Head/Constitutional Officer, Human Resource Director, and the County Administrator should meet with the employee in private and proceed via (a) through (d) above and issue a reprimand notice to the employee.

Step 3: Suspension. Department Head/Constitutional Officers must have prior approval of the County Administration to temporarily remove employees from the workplace, without pay, if approved in advance by the County Administrator. An exempt employee generally may not be suspended without pay for less than a full day, and the suspension must be related to written workplace conduct rules applicable to all employees, e.g., such as a written policy prohibiting sexual harassment or workplace violence.

Step 4: Failure to improve. Failure to improve performance or behavior after the written reprimand or suspension can result in termination.

Serious Misconduct

In cases involving serious misconduct, or any time the Department Head/Constitutional Officer determines it is necessary, such as a major breach of policy or violation of law, the procedures contained above may be disregarded. Typically, the Department Head/Constitutional Officer should contact the County Administrator and suspend the employee immediately (without pay) and an investigation of the incidents leading up to the suspension should be conducted to determine if any further action, such as termination, should be taken.

Complaints and Appeals

Intent. Employee complaints should receive prompt consideration and equitable resolution. At the same time, complaints must be handled in a manner that will require minimal intrusion into the functioning of the County. These procedures governing the processing of complaints and providing a procedure for an appeal are established for the purpose of eliminating or correcting justifiable complaints of employees.

Complaint and Appeal Procedures. All complaints or appeals are subject to the following process:

- 1. Prior to initiating a formal appeal, an employee shall discuss the complaint with their Department Head. If the employee is dissatisfied with the Department Head's action or inaction, the employee must submit their written complaint to the County Administrator within three (3) working days of such discussion.
- 2. Within three (3) working days of the receipt of the written complaint, the County Administrator shall arrange an appointment with the employee and the Department Head to discuss the problem and attempt to reach a solution.

If a settlement is not reached, the matter shall, within three (3) working days, be submitted to the Lamar County Board of Commissioners for a hearing and review of the complaint at its next regularly scheduled meeting. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners will have three (3) working days following the hearing to reach a **final** decision.

Whistleblower Policy. No employee shall discharge, threaten, or otherwise discriminate or retaliate against another employee regarding any term, condition, or privilege or employment because the employee, or a person acting on behalf of the employee, makes a good faith report, or is about to report, either verbally or in writing, to the employer or appropriate authority an instance of wrongdoing as defined by Georgia Whistleblower Law. In addition, no employee shall discharge, threaten, or otherwise discriminate or retaliate against another employee regarding the terms, conditions, or privileges of employment because the employee is

requested by appropriate authority to participate in an investigation, hearing or inquiry held by an appropriate authority or in a court action.	

V. Workplace Safety

Drug-Free and Alcohol-Free Workplace

It is the policy of Lamar County Board of Commissioners to maintain a drug and alcohol-free work environment that is safe and productive for employees and others having business with the Lamar County Board of Commissioners.

The unlawful use, possession, purchase, sale, distribution, or being under the influence of any illegal drug and/or the misuse of legal drugs while on County premises or while performing services for the Lamar County Board of Commissioners is strictly prohibited. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners also prohibits reporting to work or performing services under the influence of drugs/alcohol or consuming drugs/alcohol while on duty or during work hours. In addition, the Lamar County Board of Commissioners prohibits off-premises abuse of alcohol and controlled substances, as well as the possession, use, or sale of illegal drugs, when these activities adversely affect job performance, job safety, or the Lamar County Board of Commissioners reputation in the community.

Drugs. For purposes of this policy, drugs shall be defined as those illegal substances outlined in Chapter 13, Title 16 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated as well as alcoholic beverages.

To ensure compliance with this policy, substance abuse screening may be conducted in the following situations:

Pre-employment: As required by the County for all prospective employees who receive a conditional offer of employment.

For Cause: Upon reasonable suspicion that the employee is under the influence of alcohol or drugs that could affect or has adversely affected the employee's job performance.

Random and Periodic Drug Testing: Employees in all positions designated as safety sensitive shall be required to submit to a drug and alcohol screening test at random or on a periodic basis from time to time as determined by the County Administrator. Employees should list recently used prescriptions and over-the-counter medications or other products that may show positive during drug testing to be provided to the laboratory/testing facility prior to testing. For the purposes of this policy, Safety Sensitive Positions shall be those positions where in attention to duty or errors in judgment by the employee while on duty will have the potential for significant risk of physical harm to the employee, other employees, or the general public. Following is a list of position deemed by the county to be Safety Sensitive Positions:

- 1. Emergency Management: All personnel.
- 2. Fire Department: All Full-time, part-time, and volunteer personnel. (The County recognizes the fact that voluntary firefighters ordinarily hold full-time employment elsewhere and in order to disrupt the employment, volunteers shall be tested on their regular meeting night. If the volunteer is absent, his name shall be automatically submitted for unannounced testing at the next meeting.)
- 3. Public Works Department: All personnel.
- 4. Recreation Department: All personnel.

Compliance with this policy is a condition of employment. Employees who test positive or who refuse to submit to substance abuse screening will be subject to termination. Notwithstanding any provision herein, this policy will be enforced at all times in accordance with applicable state and local law.

Any employee violating this policy is subject to discipline, up to and including termination, for the first offense.

Smoke/Vape-Free Workplace

Smoking/Vaping is not allowed in the Lamar County Board of Commissioners buildings, vehicles, or work areas at any time. "Smoking/Vaping" includes the use of any tobacco products (including chewing tobacco), electronic smoking devices, and e-cigarettes.

Smoking/Vaping is only permitted during the two 5-minute breaks and must be in designated **outdoor** areas. Employees using these designated areas are expected to keep these areas clean and dispose of any smoking debris safely and properly.

Compliance with this policy is a condition of employment. Employees who refuse to follow this policy will be subject to termination. Notwithstanding any provision herein, this policy will be enforced at all times in accordance with applicable state and local law.

According to O.C.G.A 31-12A-3, Smoking is prohibited in State and Local Government Buildings. a.) A person smoking in violation of the law will be guilty of a misdemeanor and fined not less than \$100.00 and not more than \$500.00. (b.) A business that allows smoking in violation of the law can be fined through the process of injunction relief where the amount of the fine will be determined by court.

Any employee violating this policy is subject to discipline, up to and including termination, for the first offense.

Workplace Violence Prevention

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners is committed to providing a safe, violence-free workplace for our employees. Due to this commitment, we discourage employees from engaging in any physical confrontation with a violent or potentially violent individual or from behaving in a threatening or violent manner. Threats, threatening language, or any other acts of aggression or violence made toward or by any employee will not be tolerated. A threat may include any verbal or physical harassment or abuse, attempts to intimidate others, menacing gestures, stalking, or any other hostile, aggressive, and/or destructive actions taken for the purposes of intimidation. This policy covers any violent or potentially violent behavior that occurs in the workplace or at County-sponsored functions.

All of the Lamar County Board of Commissioners' employees bear the responsibility of keeping our work environment free from violence or potential violence. Any employee who witnesses or is the recipient of violent behavior should promptly inform their Department Head/Constitutional Officer or the HR/Payroll Office. All threats will be promptly investigated. No employee will be subject to retaliation, intimidation, or discipline as a result of reporting a threat in good faith under this guideline.

Any individual engaging in violence against the Lamar County Board of Commissioners, its employees, or its property will be prosecuted to the full extent of the law. All acts will be investigated, and the appropriate action will be taken. Any such act or threatening behavior may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

Weapons Policy

Purpose and Intent. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners employees are its most valuable resources, and, for that reason, their health and safety are of paramount concern. As such, the purpose and intent of this policy are to promote safe and secure working environments for all Lamar County Board of Commissioners employees.

Weapon Defined. For purposes of this policy, the term "weapon" means the following: any explosive

compounds (including fireworks); firearms (including those designed to fire or expel bullets, pellets, BBs, paintballs, arrows, darts, or other projectiles); Tasers or other electrical stun devices; knives (with blades longer than 3"); straight-edged razors, pepper spray, mace, or other noxious chemicals or substances designed to incapacitate; any club, baton, metal or plastic knuckles, or other bludgeon; and any other instrument, device, or item designed, modified, or adapted for use primarily as a weapon (defensive or otherwise). The term "weapon" also includes any of the above-listed instruments, devices, or items that are non-functional, unloaded, or imitation (excluding obvious toys). The term "weapon" does not include any tool provided or approved for an employee's use by [Employer]; provided, however, that the use or threatened use of any such tool (or any other instrument, device, or item not referenced above or not normally regarded as a weapon) as a weapon shall be considered to be a violation of this policy.

Scope. This policy shall apply to all employees of the Lamar County Board of Commissioners other than sworn or unsworn employees of the Sheriff's Office or employees who otherwise work under the supervision of the Sheriff. The Sheriff shall adopt a standard operating procedure regulating the possession, carrying, and transportation of firearms and other weapons by sworn and unsworn employees of the Sheriff's Office or who otherwise work under his or her supervision.

Prohibited Conduct; Exception. No employee shall carry, possess, or transport a weapon inside any Lamar County Board of Commissioners buildings, on the grounds of any Lamar County Board of Commissioners property (including parking lots or parking facilities as provided below), or in a Lamar County Board of Commissioners vehicle, while on-duty or otherwise acting in the course of his or her employment. No employee, whether onduty or off-duty or whether or not acting in the course of his or her employment, shall carry, possess, or transport a weapon inside any Lamar County Board of Commissioners government vehicle. No employee who is off-duty or otherwise not acting in the course of his or her employment shall wear any uniform, shirt, jacket, hat, or other visible article of clothing or other item that identifies him or her as an employee of the Lamar County Board of Commissioners while carrying, possessing, or transporting a weapon. The purpose of this prohibition is to prevent misunderstandings or confusion among members of the general public as to the identity, position, authority, duties, or responsibilities of an off-duty employee of the Lamar County Board of Commissioners and to make clear that such an employee is not carrying, possessing, or transporting the weapon in the course of his or her employment. Any employee who carries, possesses, transports, or uses a weapon in such a way or under circumstances that violates federal or state law shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action regardless of whether he or she off-duty or otherwise not acting in the course of his or her employment and regardless of whether he or she was wearing any uniform or other visible article of clothing or other item identifying him or her as an employee of Lamar County Board of Commissioners.

Limited exception. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it shall not be a violation of this policy for any employee to possess a weapon in his or her personal vehicle in a parking lot or parking facility owned or operated by Lamar County Board of Commissioners, provided each of the following requirements are met: a. the weapon is secured in a locked compartment or locked rack of the employee's personal vehicle or in a locked container in the vehicle; and b. the parking lot or parking facility (or the portion thereof in which the employee's vehicle is parked) is unsecured and available to the general public. For purposes of this provision, the term "unsecured" means not controlled by a gate, security station, security officer, or similar means which limit public access to such parking lot or parking facility. To the extent that this limited exception applies, it shall not be a violation of this policy for an employee to lawfully carry a weapon on his or her person or otherwise have a weapon in his or her control while in his or her personal vehicle and entering or exiting the parking lot or parking facility; provided that, if the weapon is one for which State law requires a license, said employee holds such license.

Exemptions. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners and the County Administrator shall be authorized to

grant a temporary or limited exemption to an employee, in writing, upon a showing of good cause or other appropriate circumstances.

Construction. This policy shall be construed and applied in a manner fully consistent with the United States Constitution, the Constitution of the State of Georgia, and the Georgia Safe Carry Protection Act.

This policy is intended for internal use of Lamar County Board of Commissioners only and should not be construed as establishing a higher duty or standard of care for purposes of any third-party civil claims against Lamar County Board of Commissioners and/or its employees. A violation of this policy by an employee provides only a basis for corrective and/or disciplinary action against such an employee by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners.

Commitment to Safety

Protecting the safety of our employees and visitors is the most important aspect of running the Lamar County Board of Commissioners work facilities.

All employees have the opportunity and responsibility to contribute to a safe work environment by using common sense rules and safe practices and by notifying Department Heads/ Constitutional Officers when any health or safety issues are present. All employees are encouraged to partner with Department Heads/Constitutional Officers to ensure maximum safety for all.

In the event of an emergency, notify the appropriate emergency personnel by dialing 911 to activate the medical emergency services.

Closing of County Offices

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners will always make every attempt to be open for business. In situations in which some employees are concerned about their safety, the County Administrator may advise Department Heads/Constitutional Officers to notify their employees that the office is not officially closed, but anyone may choose to leave the office if they feel uncomfortable but must take vacation time for the hours missed.

At times, emergencies such as severe weather, fires, power failures, pandemics or tornadoes can disrupt County operations. In extreme cases, the circumstances may require the closing of work facilities.

When the decision to close is made after the workday has begun, employees will receive official notification from their Department Head/Constitutional Officer. In these situations, time off from scheduled work will be paid. When the decision to close is made before the workday has begun, time off from scheduled work will be unpaid unless administrative leave is assigned by the County Administrator. Employees in essential operations may be asked to work on a day when operations are officially closed. In these circumstances, employees who work will receive regular pay.

VI. Use of County Property and Vehicle

Use of property owned or leased by the County is intended for official county business only. Property including supplies, tools, materials, and equipment are not for personal use and should not be removed from County premises except in the conduct of official county business.

Vehicle Fleet Safety

The purpose of the Vehicle Fleet Safety policies and procedures is to ensure that each employee who operates a vehicle on county business maintains acceptable standards of proficiency and safety.

Responsibility:

The HR Office will perform a Motor Vehicle Record check on all post-offer applicants.

The HR Office will further ensure that all potential employees meet the minimum driver qualifications as listed below when the open position requires driving a County vehicle and review semi-annual MVR record (Annual checks will be performed on employees driving County vehicles on a sporadic basis.)

- Department Head/Constitutional Officer will ensure all drivers have a valid Georgia drivers' license before permitting operation of a County vehicle. Department Heads/Constitutional Officers will also make sure the employee is familiar with the County vehicle before allowing them to leave County property.
- Authorized Drivers will be determined by the Department Head/Constitutional Officer. Employee must be given permission to drive either a County or a personal vehicle on County business. Employees must obey all motor vehicle laws, maintain the vehicle properly at all times, and otherwise follow the procedures listed in these guidelines.

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners is dedicated to eliminating conditions that adversely affect the well-being of employees and otherwise threaten financial stability through accidental losses.

Employees shall operate all vehicles used for County business in a safe and economical manner. In order to accomplish this, the following practices will be followed:

Driver's License

All drivers must have a valid Georgia driver's license for the class of the vehicle operated and must be able to drive the vehicle. License acquisition and renewal is a personal expense. Commercial Drivers' Licenses (CDL or CDL/HAZMAT) are handled according to the departmental procedure.

Driver's Qualifications

All drivers of County vehicles must meet the following criteria with the exception of Public Safety employees who have completed a course in emergency vehicle operations: Must be at least 18 years of age; they are an authorized driver for the County; must meet licensing requirements; will not qualify to drive a County vehicle, or be hired or transferred into a position requiring driving a County vehicle if the driver/applicant has had any of the following within the prior 36 months; been convicted of or pled guilty to a felony; been convicted of sale, handling or use of drugs; been convicted of an alcohol or drug-related offense while driving; had drivers' license suspended or revoked for a moving violation; been convicted or pled guilty or nolo contendere to three or more speeding violations or one or more other serious violations; or been involved in two or more chargeable

accidents. Exceptions to the above qualifications, excluding Public Safety employee/applicants, require advance approval, in writing by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners or his/her designee.

Maintenance of Vehicle

Authorized drivers are required to properly maintain their County vehicle at all times. Vehicles should not be operated with any defect that would inhibit safe operation during current and foreseeable weather and light conditions. Preventive maintenance, such as regular oil changes, lubrication, tire pressure and fluid checks determine to a considerable extent whether employees will have a reliable safe vehicle to drive and support County work activities. Employees should have preventive maintenance completed on their assigned county vehicle as required.

Prescription and Non-Prescription Drug Use

Employees are responsible for informing their treating physician(s) regarding required job duties to ensure that the physician approves the use of prescription medicine while at work. The employee reporting to work must inform their supervisor of any therapeutic drug use with related driving restrictions. Over the counter drugs must not be used when the label states "do not operate machinery," or similar language. Employees must report prescription and non-prescription drug use to their supervisor when side effects may interfere with driving duties.

- All drivers and passengers in all County vehicles shall wear seat belts while the vehicle is in operation for non-emergency situations (All emergency personnel exempt).
- The County is not responsible for loss or theft of personal items left in County vehicles.
- Authorized employees for official County business shall use county vehicles unless a county vehicle is not available. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners may authorize Department Heads/Constitutional Officers, or other personnel, because of their position, duties, or the emergency nature of work, to take County owned vehicles to their residences following normal duty hours. No unauthorized passengers or drivers will be allowed to either operate or ride in the vehicle. Transporting family members in County vehicles shall be allowed only when the family member is accompanying an employee to a business meeting or official functions. Vehicles assigned are not to be used in such a manner as to bring discredit upon the County.

Roadside Work

Any employee working on the roadside must be conscious of the dangers of oncoming traffic hazards and observe safety rules. The normal cautions used in Certified Safety Flagging class are to be followed. (Flaggers are to be certified.) All heavy trucks must be equipped with adequate and working warning lights. When less than five minutes is expected for roadside work, at a minimum, an escort truck with flashing amber lights must be provided behind the work area at a sufficient distance to protect the workers with appropriate signage. All workers are to wear florescent safety vest, especially when working near traffic. Adequate signage and cones are to be used. Every effort should be made to locate a working truck out of the lane of traffic.

Seat Belt Policy

Lamar County values the lives and safety of its employees. It is estimated that seat belts reduce the risk of death in a motor vehicle crash by 45%; therefore, Lamar County has adopted the following policy concerning employee seat belt usage.

- All employees and their passengers are required to use a seat belt when traveling in any vehicle while in the course of conducting Lamar County business. The requirement applies to business travel in a vehicle owned by Lamar County, in a rental vehicle or in a vehicle owned by an individual employee, regardless of whether the employee is compensated for the use of his/her vehicle.
- If an employee is provided a county-owned vehicle that is used in the course of his/her employment and is also available for that employee's personal use, that employee, together with all passengers who occupy the vehicle at any time and for any purpose, whether business-related or personal, are required to use seat belts at all times the vehicle is in motion.
- The use of seat belts is to be considered a condition of employment with Lamar County. Failure to abide by this stated policy will be considered a breach of that condition of employment and subject the person in violation to disciplinary action, including suspension and possible termination.

VII. Workplace Guidelines

Attendance

All employees are expected to arrive on time, ready to work, every day they are scheduled to work.

If unable to arrive at work on time, or if an employee is absent for an entire day, the employee must contact the Department Head/Constitutional Officer as soon as possible. Voice mail, text and e-mail messages are not acceptable except in certain emergency circumstances. Excessive absenteeism or tardiness will result in discipline up to and including termination. Failure to show up or call in for a scheduled shift without prior approval may result in termination. If an employee fails to report to work or call in to inform the Department Head/Constitutional Officer of the absence for three (3) consecutive days or more, the employee will be considered to have voluntarily resigned from employment.

Job Performance

Communication between employees and Department Heads/Constitutional Officers is very important. Discussions regarding job performance are ongoing and often informal. Employees should initiate conversations with their Department Head/Constitutional Officer if they feel additional ongoing feedback is needed.

Generally, formal performance reviews are conducted annually. These reviews include a written performance appraisal and discussion between the employee and the Department Head/Constitutional Officer about job performance and expectations for the coming year.

Outside Employment

Employees are permitted to work a second job as long as it does not interfere with their job performance with Lamar County Board of Commissioners. Employees with a second job are expected to work their assigned schedules. A second job will not be considered an excuse for poor job performance, absenteeism, tardiness, leaving early, refusal to travel, or refusal to work overtime or different hours. Refer to Conflict of Interest on page 9 for more information on outside employment.

If outside work activity causes or contributes to job-related problems, it must be discontinued, or the employee may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

Dress and Grooming

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners provides a casual yet professional work environment for its employees. Even though the dress code is business casual, it is important to project a professional image to our citizens, visitors, and coworkers. All employees are expected to dress in a manner consistent with good hygiene, safety, and good taste. Please use common sense. The following clothing items are not appropriate at any time: halters, tank tops, mini dresses, spaghetti strap tops, leggings, jean/khakis with holes, overalls, low front or back, sheer clothing, clothing that is too tight or too short, flip flops, and slippers of any kind, crocks of any kind, or clothing/hats that have inappropriate words, pictures, scenes, etc., that would be disruptive to the work environment.

Any questions or complaints regarding the appropriateness of attire should be directed to the HR/Payroll Director. Decisions regarding attire will be made by the HR/Payroll Director and not by individual Department Heads/Constitutional Officers.

Social Media Acceptable Use

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners encourages employees to share information with co-workers and with those outside the County for the purposes of gathering information, generating innovative ideas, and learning from the work of others. Social media provides inexpensive, informal, and timely ways to participate in an exchange of ideas and information. However, information posted on a website is available to the public and, therefore, the Lamar County Board of Commissioners has established the following guidelines for employee participation in social media.

Note: As used in this policy, "social media" refers to blogs, forums, and social networking sites, such as Twitter, Facebook, LinkedIn, YouTube, Instagram, and Snap Chat, among others.

Off-duty use of social media. Employees may maintain personal websites or weblogs on their own time using their own facilities. Employees must ensure that social media activity does not interfere with their work. In general, the Lamar County Board of Commissioners considers social media activities to be personal endeavors, and employees may use them to express their thoughts or promote their ideas.

On-duty use of social media. Employees may engage in social media activity during work time provided it is directly related to their work, approved by their Department Head/Constitutional Officer, and does not identify or reference Lamar County Board of Commissioners employees, the citizens, or vendors without express permission. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners may monitor an employee's use of County computers and the Internet, including employee blogging and social networking activity.

Respect. Demonstrate respect for the dignity of the Lamar County Board of Commissioners, the citizens, its vendors, and its employees. A social media site is a public place, and employees should avoid inappropriate comments. Similarly, employees should not engage in harassing or discriminatory behavior that targets other employees or individuals because of their protected class status or make defamatory comments. Even if a message is posted anonymously, it may be possible to trace it back to the sender.

Post disclaimers. If an employee identifies himself or herself as a Lamar County Board of Commissioners employee or discusses matters related to the Lamar County Board of Commissioners on a social media site, the site must include a disclaimer on the front page stating that it does not express the views of the Lamar County Board of Commissioners and that the employee is expressing only his or her personal views. For example: "The views expressed on this website/Weblog are mine alone and do not necessarily reflect the views of my employer." Place the disclaimer in a prominent position and repeat it for each posting expressing an opinion related to the Lamar County Board of Commissioners Employees must keep in mind that if they post information on a social media site that is in violation of Lamar County Board of Commissioners policy and/or federal, state, or local law, the disclaimer will not shield them from disciplinary action.

Confidentiality. Do not identify or reference Lamar County Board of Commissioners customers, or vendors without express permission. Employees may write about their jobs in general but may not disclose any confidential or proprietary information. For examples of confidential information, please refer to the confidentiality policy. If in doubt, ask before publishing.

Legal. Employees are expected to comply with all applicable laws, including but not limited to, Federal Trade Commission (FTC) guidelines, copyright, trademark, and harassment laws.

Discipline. Violations of this policy may result in discipline up to and including immediate termination of employment.

Note: Nothing in this policy is meant to, nor should it be interpreted to, in any way limit your rights under any applicable federal, state, or local laws, including your rights under the National Labor Relations Act to engage in protected concerted activities with other employees to improve or discuss terms and conditions of employment, such as wages, working conditions, and benefits.

Bulletin Boards

All required governmental postings are posted on the boards located in each building. No other announcements or posting should be placed on these boards.

Solicitation

Employees should be able to work in an environment that is free from unnecessary annoyances and interference with their work. In order to protect our employees and visitors, solicitation by employees is strictly prohibited while either the employee being solicited or the employee doing the soliciting is on "working time." "Working time" is defined as time during which an employee is not at a meal, on break, or on the premises immediately before or after his or her shift.

Employees are also prohibited from distributing written materials, handbills, or any other type of literature during working time and, at all times, in "working areas," which includes all office areas. "Working areas" do not include break rooms, parking lots, or common areas shared by employees during nonworking time.

Computers, Internet, Email, and Other Resources

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners provides a wide variety of communication tools and resources to employees for use in running day-to-day business activities. Whether it is the telephone, voice mail, fax, scanner, Internet, intranet, e-mail, text messaging, or any other County-provided technology, use should be reserved for business-related matters during working hours. All communication using these tools should be handled in a professional and respectful manner.

Employees should not have any expectation of privacy in their use of County computer, phone, or other communication tools. All communications made using County-provided equipment or services including email and internet activity, are subject to inspection by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners. Employees should keep in mind that even if they delete an email, voicemail or other communication, a copy may be archived on the County's systems.

Employee use of County-provided communication systems, including personal e-mail and internet use, which are not job-related have the potential to drain, rather than enhance, productivity and system performance. You should also be aware that information transmitted through email and the internet is not completely secure or may contain viruses or malware, and information you transmit and receive could damage the County's systems. To protect against potential problems, delete any e-mail messages prior to opening that are received from unknown senders and advertisers. It also is against County policy to turn off antivirus protection software or make unauthorized changes to system configurations installed on Lamar County Board of Commissioners computers. Violations of this policy may result in termination for a first offense.

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners encourages employees to use e-mail only to communicate with fellow employees, suppliers, customers, or potential customers regarding County business. Internal and external e-mails are considered business records and may be subject to federal and state recordkeeping requirements as well as to be discovered in the event of litigation. Be aware of this possibility when sending e-mails within and outside the County.

All use of County-provided communications systems, including e-mail and internet use, should conform to our Lamar County Board of Commissioners guidelines/policies, including but not limited to the Equal Opportunity, Harassment, Confidential Information, and Conflicts of Interest. For example, employees should not engage in harassing or discriminatory behavior that targets other employees or individuals because of their protected class status or make defamatory comments. Similarly, employees should not divulge confidential information or information restricted from disclosure by law on social media sites.

Because e-mail, telephone and voice mail, and internet communication equipment are provided for Lamar County Board of Commissioners business purposes and are critical to the County's success, your communications may be accessed without further notice by Information Technology per County Administrator, Department Head, or Constitutional Officers to ensure compliance with this guideline.

The electronic communication systems are not secure and may allow inadvertent disclosure, accidental transmission to third parties, etc. Sensitive information should not be sent via unsecured electronic means.

Office telephones are for business purposes. While the Lamar County Board of Commissioners recognizes that some personal calls are necessary, these should be kept as brief as possible and to a minimum. Personal use of the County's cell phones, long-distance account, or toll-free numbers is strictly prohibited. Abuse of these privileges is subject to corrective action up to and including termination.

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners reserves the right to monitor customer calls to ensure employees abide by guidelines and provide appropriate levels of customer service. Employees working in customer service will be subject to telephone monitoring and e-mail. Should the subject matter of any telephone conversation become personal while monitoring is taking place, monitoring of the call will immediately be discontinued.

Nothing in this policy is designed to interfere with, restrain, or prevent employee communications regarding wages, hours, or other terms and conditions of employment as protected under the National Labor Relations Act. Employees have the right to engage in or refrain from such activities.

Cell Phone Policy

Purpose. The purpose of this policy is to describe the regulations for cell phone administration, business and personal use, department accountability/responsibility, individual responsibilities, safety measures, and service providers.

Cell phones include, but are not limited to, any wireless telecommunications devices, traditional cellular phones, smartphones, push-to-talk phones, etc.

Scope. This policy shall apply to all cell phones used by or issued to County employees. Cell phones are those pieces of equipment issued directly by the County or by a third-party provider or contractor to one or more County employees. Such devices shall be those issued to or used by employees or elected officials for business purposes.

Eligibility for county-issued cell phone. To qualify for a County-issued cell phone, a determination must first be made that having a cell phone is an essential part of the employee's job function and/or official duties. Using the following criteria, department heads shall determine which employees within their departments qualify for a County-issued cell phone:

• Senior management staff in an exempt position who must be available to receive and place time sensitive calls and/or are considered on a permanent on-call status.

- Full-time employees whose duties and responsibilities require them to maintain voice contact with the County while away from the office or to be accessible outside of normal working hours may be eligible for a County cell phone.
- Full-time employees whose duties require continual data access in addition to cell phone service while away from the office or outside normal working hours may be eligible for a hotspot.
- Any cell phone authorized to be used for County business must support software required to access County emails.

Cell Phones (General).

- The need for a County-purchased cell phone and securing all necessary funds will be the responsibility of each department head. Costs include any cost for the stipend or device, protective case/folio, monthly service fees, licensing fees, client access licenses, business applications, and Mobile Device Management (MDM) licensing.
- Any County-issued cell phone shall be managed by MDM software and licensing, chosen, and managed by the Information Services Department.
- Conditions which must be met for any cell phone to be enabled to access County email:
- 1. All cell phone users must sign a waiver (Mobile Device Security Request Form) acknowledging the employee has read the Cell Phone Policy and agrees to abide by all policy statements within and as may be amended by the County.
- 2. All department heads and/or equivalent shall be aware of the FLSA provisions regarding compensation of employees for all time worked and must ensure that non-exempt employees understand and are complying with the appropriate use of email during non-scheduled work hours.
- 3. Non-Exempt Employees granted access to email on cell phones shall strictly follow work schedules when replying to any email request. Replying when not at work or otherwise "on the clock" is not authorized for Non-Exempt Employees without explicit written directions from the Department Director or equivalent and/or the County Manager or designee.
- 4. All email-enabled devices shall be required to automatically "lock" after a reasonable period of inactivity (no longer than 5 minutes) and must be password protected to "unlock" the device. This is to secure a device left unattended from parties not governed by this policy. These policies shall be enforced by the Mobile Device Management Client.
- For any device approved for connection to the County network, it shall be considered a violation of this policy for any changes to be made to the operating system provided by the manufacturer (i.e., "jail broken" or "rooted"). Any unauthorized changes to the operating system of any device compromises security and will result in termination of service to the device.
- Upon resignation/termination of employment, or at any time upon request, the employee shall produce the cell phone for return or inspection. Employees unable to present the cell phone in good working condition within one business day from the requested time shall be solely responsible for the full cost of a replacement.

Safekeeping and Custody. The County Clerk is responsible for establishing agreements with cell phone providers.

The County Clerk shall maintain a list of County employees who have County-issued cell phones which list shall include the following:

- 1. Date the service was initiated;
- 2. Date the service was terminated;

- 3. Serial number for the equipment;
- 4. Company providing the service;
- 5. Equipment purchase price;
- 6. Data setup fees; and
- 7. Monthly service fees.

Personal use of county-issued cell phones. Limited personal use of a County-issued cell phone may be acceptable, so long as:

- Personal use of devices does not interfere with regular work activity and performance.
- Personal use of devices does not prohibit any business application from being installed and fully functioning on any device (i.e., downloading excessive music/video may run a device low on space, thus rendering it incapable of running County business applications effectively).
- Devices must maintain enough memory/storage space to run all business-related applications and functionalities.
- Personal use does not compromise the security of County information retained on or accessible from the device.
- Other "for a fee" downloads such as music, videos, movies, etc.: it will be the sole responsibility of the end-user/employee to pay for any downloaded media of any type for which a fee is charged. It shall not be the responsibility of the County or the County Clerk to backup, maintain, or otherwise protect any personally downloaded application, content, music, video, movie, etc., unless expressly approved and paid for by the County.

While operating a vehicle. Employees whose job responsibilities include regular or occasional driving and who have a cellular phone for business use shall not use their phone while operating a motor vehicle on any public roadway, except in accordance with state law.

- Employees who are charged with traffic violations resulting from the use of their cell phone while driving will be solely responsible for all liabilities that result from such actions.
- If a County vehicle is involved in an accident, the employee's supervisor or County Manager may request to see the driver's cell phone to determine if the driver was using the phone at the time of the accident.

Notification of damage or stolen county-issued cellular phones. Employees are responsible for maintaining adequate physical protection for all equipment issued to them by the County. Employees shall promptly notify their direct supervisor and the County Clerk if any County-issued cellular phone is damaged or stolen. If a County-issued cell phone is stolen, the employee will be required to file a police report.

Access to cell phone statements and records.

- The County reserves the right to monitor the billing and usage of all County-issued cell phones and has the authority to withhold any improper/unauthorized charges from the employee's wages for reimbursement purposes.
- By accepting the use of a County cell phone, the employee agrees to promptly reimburse the County for all personal charges made which are deemed by the County to be excessive in frequency and duration. If reimbursement for unlimited plans or when actual charges cannot be determined, other disciplinary actions may be issued.

- Employees who receive a cell phone stipend shall understand that all cell phone records pertaining to the performance of the employee's official duties and employment are subject to Georgia Open Records Act requests.
- Employees who have a County-issued cell phone acknowledge that there is no expectation of privacy when using County-provided cellular phones. The County has the right to review all records related to cellular and/or wireless devices including but not limited to phone logs, text messages, and internet usage logs. Users should further be aware that all records are subject to disclosure under the Georgia Open Records Act.

Verification of Employment

Prospective employers, financial institutions and residential property managers routinely contact employers for information on a former or current employee's work history and salary. Verification of Employment should be faxed or emailed to the HR/Payroll Office.

All such requests of this type should be referred to and handled by the HR/Payroll Director. Responses to written requests for verification of employment will be completed only when the request is accompanied by a former or current employee's signed authorization to release such information. The HR/Payroll Director may contact the employee to verify authorization.

A written verification of employment form that has been completed by the HR/Payroll Director will be returned directly to the requesting party.

VIII. Holidays, Paid Time Off, and Leaves of Absence

Holidays

It is the policy of Lamar County that all Full-time Employees shall be eligible for the following ten holidays each year: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King's Birthday, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Day after Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve, Christmas Day and two floating Holidays (must be pre-approved by the Department Head/Constitutional Officer). Any other holidays shall be upon specific authorization of the Board of Commissioners. When a holiday falls on Saturday, it shall be observed by the County on the following Monday.

All Full-time Employees shall be paid for holidays based on the number of hours they are scheduled to work on the holiday. Part-time, temporary, and seasonal employees or employees on approved Leave Without Pay, Suspension Without Pay, Military Leave, and/or FMLA Leave are not entitled to holiday pay. Holiday pay cannot be added to the computation of overtime pay.

In order to qualify for holiday pay, employees are required to work their scheduled workdays before and after a holiday unless the employee is off on scheduled and pre-approved PTO. If unscheduled PTO is taken on the day before or the day after a holiday the employee will not qualify for holiday pay. Holidays which occur during pre-approved PTO shall not be charged against PTO.

Employees who need time off to observe religious practices or holidays not already scheduled by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners should speak with their Department Head/Constitutional Officer. Depending upon business needs, the employee may be able to work on a day that is normally observed as a holiday and then take time off for another religious day. The County will seek to accommodate individuals' religious observances.

Paid Time Off

Purpose. Paid Time Off (PTO) leave accrual is a benefit which allows eligible employees accrued time off from normally scheduled work without loss of income or benefit eligibility. PTO can be used for planned time off or related medical care of the employee or an immediate family member. For purposes of this policy, the following terms shall apply:

Eligibility. All Full-time Employees who are scheduled to work 40 or more hours per week shall be entitled to accrue PTO.

Hours of Work. The established work week and hours of work shall, insofar as practicable, be uniform within occupational groups and shall be determined in accordance with the needs of the County and the reasonable needs of the public who may be required to do business with various County departments. The Department Head, with the approval of the County Administrator, shall establish the work schedule of 40 hours a week or 80 hours a pay period for fulltime time employees and establish hours for part-time and temporary employees based on the Department budget (The Fire Department and Sheriff's Office do not fall within this schedule). Offices are to remain open during lunch hours unless permission is obtained from the County Administrator. Departments/Offices should staff accordingly.

Attendance. The employee is responsible for his/her attendance and is required to work the schedule assigned by the applicable Department Head/ Constitutional Officer. Each Department Head/Constitutional Officer is responsible for maintaining a copy of the attendance records for their department/office.

Call In Procedure. When an unexpected illness or crisis arises and an employee is unable to report to work or is going to be late, the employee is required to call in immediately or at least 30 minutes after the employee's scheduled start time. The employee should report to their Department Head/Constitutional Officer. "Call-in" is required every day of absence unless otherwise approved by the Department Head/Constitutional Officer.

Emergency Closings. At times, emergencies such as severe weather, fires, power failures, or tornadoes, can disrupt County operations. In extreme cases, these circumstances may require the closure of work facilities. When the decision to close is made AFTER the workday has begun, employees will receive official notification from their Department Head/Constitutional Officer. In these situations, time off from scheduled work will be paid. When the decision to close BEFORE the workday has begun, time off from scheduled work will be unpaid unless administrative leave is assigned by the County Administrator. Employees in essential operations may be asked or required to work on a day when operations are officially closed. In these circumstances, employees who work will receive regular pay during work regular hours or overtime/compensatory time for time over regular work hours.

Annual Period. The "Annual Period" for purposes of determining rights under this policy shall commence on January 1st and conclude on December 31st.

Maximum Work Hours. The following table sets forth the maximum work hours for purposes of computing overtime/compensatory time. In accordance with the table, employees are not entitled to overtime/compensatory time until the maximum work hours in the applicable work period have been exceeded.

<u>Maximum</u>	Work	<u>Hours</u>

Fire Department 53 hours per week

Sheriff's Office

911 Employees 40 hours per week
SRO 40 hours per week
Jail 84 hours per 2 weeks
Drug/Investigations 80 hour per 2 weeks
Administrative 40 hours per week
Patrol 84 hours per 2 weeks

All Other County Departments: 40 hours per week

Time-Swapping Record Keeping. The County does not allow time-swapping. Shift-swapping is the practice of trading work shifts. Falsifying payroll records to show an individual is present when he is actually not present is grounds for termination.

Reasonable Work Schedules. The Department Head/Constitutional Officer shall utilize reasonable work schedules and shift assignments that allow personnel to work no more than forty (40) hours (The Fire Department and Sheriff's Office do not fall within this schedule).

Accrual of Paid Time Off. Full-time Employees shall accrue Paid Time Off upon completion of each bi-weekly pay period. The PTO accrual rate is shown below. **PTO accrual shall begin on January 1, 2024.** Leave is accrued as follows:

80 Hour Pay Period	Accrual Rate Per Pay Period	Hours Accrued Per Year	Days Accrued Per Year		
	(Hours)			Accrual	Roll-Over
				Limit	Сар
One year, but less than five years	7.00	182	22.75	320	320
Five years, but less than ten years	9.00	234	29.25	320	340
Ten years, but less than 20	10.00	260	32.50	320	360
20+	11.00	286	35.75	320	380

Fire Department/Sheriff's	Accrual Rate	Hours	Days		
Office	Per Pay	Accrued Per	Accrued Per		
53/86 Hour Pay Period	Period Hours	Year	Year	Accrual	Roll-Over
				Limit	Сар
One year, but less than five years	8.00	208	26.00	350	350
Five years, but less than ten years	10.00	260	32.50	350	370
Ten years, but less than 20	11.00	286	35.75	350	390
20+	12.00	312	39.00	350	410

PTO accrual begins on the date of employment and is available for use after the probationary period of three (3) months has been completed.

PTO accruals for full-time employees may not exceed 320 hours and 350 hours for full-time employees of the Fire Department and Sheriff's Office. (See the above chart for Roll-Over Caps). If the maximum amount of accrual limit has been reached, an employee may request payment for 40 hours of accrued PTO per year after the employee has reached 10 years. These requests may only be made **during the last month** of each calendar year.

Guidelines for PTO. Employees may use time from their PTO bank in thirty-minute increments. PTO is added to the employee's PTO bank after the last day of the pay-period. This accrual may not be used for the previous pay period. PTO taken will be subtracted from the employee's accrued time bank each pay period. Eligibility to accrue PTO is contingent on the employee either working or utilizing accrued PTO for the entire bi-weekly pay

period. PTO is not earned in pay periods during which unpaid leave, short-term or long-term disability leave, or worker's compensation leave is taken.

Approval of Paid Time Off. All requests for PTO must be requested within 5 days of needed time off and preapproved by the Department Heads/ Constitutional Officers unless PTO is used for an unexpected illness/emergency and bereavement. In the case of Department Heads, PTO must be pre-approved by the County Administrator unless PTO is used for a legitimate, unexpected illness/emergency and bereavement. The employee shall report needed time off, for any reason, prior to their scheduled work time. If not possible, they must report the tardiness/absence, or the tardiness/absence will be unexcused and unpaid. Absences from duty without previous approval that occur frequently or are habitual will be addressed per the disciplinary process.

PTO Exceptions. Employees who miss more than three unscheduled consecutive days will be required to present a doctor's note/excuse to their Department Head/Constitutional Officer when returning to work. Unscheduled absences, due to illness of four hours or more, that result in consecutive days absent from work, are considered one absence incident in relation to potential disciplinary action.

At no time will employees be allowed to take unearned PTO. Employees who take unearned PTO may receive progressive disciplinary action up to and including employment termination. Any exception to this policy must be granted by the County Administrator.

PTO accrued prior to the start of a requested and approved unpaid leave of absence must be used to cover hours missed before the start of the unpaid leave period.

Under the County's Family Medical and Leave Act (FMLA) policy, all accrued PTO time must be taken before the start of the unpaid FMLA.

Under no circumstances will an employee be allowed to request payment for unearned or advance Leave.

Compensation for Paid Time Off Upon Separation

At the time of termination, resignation, retirement, or death while employed with Lamar County the unused accrued PTO (320 hours for 80-hour employee and 350 hours for 53/86-hour employees) will be paid to the employee's direct deposit account or his/her estate provided all uniforms and equipment issued by the County has been returned and no outstanding liabilities or debts remain.

Donation of PTO

An employee may receive PTO donated by fellow employees in cases where extended illness or injury exceeds the maximum allowable accumulation. The employee requesting donated leave must have exhausted all PTO accrued time and not be on short term or long-term disability. The employee donating time can only donate up to forty (40) hours of their accrued PTO once a year per employee. An employee can receive a maximum of four (4) weeks of donated PTO time per year. The donation form can be picked up and returned to the HR/Payroll Office.

Family and Medical Leave

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners complies with the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) which requires employers to grant unpaid leaves of absence to qualified workers for certain medical and family-related reasons. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners also abides by any state and local leave laws. The

more generous of the laws will apply to the employee if the employee is eligible under both federal and state laws.

Please note there are many requirements, qualifications, and exceptions under these laws, and each employee's situation is different. Contact the HR Office to discuss options for leave.

Basic Leave Entitlement. The FMLA requires covered employers to provide up to 12 weeks of unpaid, job-protected leave to eligible employees for the following reasons: (1) for incapacity due to pregnancy, prenatal medical care, or childbirth; (2) to care for the employee's child after birth or placement for adoption or foster care; (3) to care for the employee's spouse, son or daughter, or parent who has a serious health condition; or (4) for a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to work.

Military Family Leave Entitlements. Eligible employees with a spouse, son, daughter, or parent on active duty or called to active-duty status in the National Guard or Reserves in support of a contingency operation may use their 12-week leave entitlement to address certain qualifying exigencies. Qualifying exigencies may include addressing issues that arise from (1) short notice of deployment (limited to up to seven days of leave); (2) attending certain military events and related activity; (3) arranging childcare and school activities; (4) addressing certain financial and legal arrangements; (5) attending certain counseling sessions; (6) spending time with covered military family members on short-term temporary rest and recuperation leave (limited to up to five days of leave); (7) attending post-deployment reintegration briefings; (8) arranging care for or providing care to a parent who is incapable of self-care; and (9) any additional activities agreed upon by the employer and employee that arise out of the military member's active duty or call to active duty.

The FMLA also includes a special leave entitlement that permits eligible employees to take up to 26 weeks of leave to care for a covered servicemember during a single 12-month period. A covered servicemember is a current member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, who has a serious injury or illness incurred in the line of duty on active duty that may render the servicemember medically unfit to perform his or her duties and for which the servicemember is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy; or is in outpatient status; or is on the temporary disability retired list.

Use of FMLA leave cannot result in the loss of any employment benefit that accrued prior to the start of an employee's leave.

Employee Eligibility. The FMLA defines eligible employees as employees who: (1) have worked for the Lamar County Board of Commissioners for at least 12 months; (2) have worked for the County for at least 1,250 hours in the previous 12 months; and (3) work at or report to a worksite which has 50 or more employees or is within 75 miles of County worksites that taken together have a total of 50 or more employees.

Definition of Serious Health Condition. A serious health condition is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves either an overnight stay in a medical care facility or continuing treatment by a health care provider for a condition that either prevents the employee from performing the functions of the employee's job or prevents the qualified family member from participating in school, work, or other daily activities.

Subject to certain conditions, the continuing treatment requirement may be met by a period of incapacity of more than three consecutive calendar days combined with at least two visits to a health care provider or one visit and a regimen of continuing treatment, or incapacity due to pregnancy, or incapacity due to a chronic condition. Other conditions may meet the definition of continuing treatment.

Use of Leave. An employee does not need to use this leave entitlement in one block. Leave can be taken intermittently or on a reduced work schedule when medically necessary. Employees must make reasonable efforts to schedule leave for planned medical treatment so as not to unduly disrupt the employer's operations. Leave due to qualifying exigencies also may be taken on an intermittent or reduced work schedule basis.

Substitution of Paid Leave for Unpaid Leave. Employees may choose or employers may require the use of accrued sick leave while taking FMLA leave. Accordingly, the Lamar County Board of Commissioners requires employees to use any accrued PTO during an unpaid FMLA leave taken because of the employee's own serious health condition or the serious health condition of a family member or to care for a seriously ill or injured family member in the military. In addition, the employee must use any accrued PTO during FMLA leave taken to care for a newborn or newly placed child or for a qualifying exigency arising out of a family member's active duty or call to active-duty status in support of a contingency operation. In order to use paid leave for FMLA leave, employees must comply with the Lamar County Board of Commissioners normal paid leave procedures found in its PTO policies.

Employee Responsibilities. Employees must provide 30 days advance notice of the need to take FMLA leave when the need is foreseeable. When 30 days' notice is not possible, the employee must provide notice as soon as practicable and must comply with the Lamar County Board of Commissioners normal call-in procedures. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners may delay leave to employees who do not provide proper advance notice of the foreseeable need for leave, absent unusual circumstances preventing the notice.

Employees must provide sufficient information for the Lamar County Board of Commissioners to determine if the leave may qualify for FMLA protection and the anticipated timing and duration of the leave. Sufficient information may include that the employee is unable to perform job functions, the family member is unable to perform daily activities, the need for hospitalization or continuing treatment by a health care provider, or circumstances supporting the need for military family leave. Employees also must inform the Lamar County Board of Commissioners if the requested leave is for a reason for which FMLA leave was previously taken or certified. Employees are also required to provide a certification and periodic recertification supporting the need for leave. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners also may require a second, and if necessary, a third opinion (at the Lamar County Board of Commissioners expense) and, when the leave is a result of the employee's own serious health condition, a fitness for duty report to return to work. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners also may delay or deny approval of leave for lack of proper medical certification.

Unlawful Acts by Employers. The FMLA makes it unlawful for any employer (1) to interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise of any right provided under the FMLA; or (2) to discharge or discriminate against any person for opposing any practice made unlawful by the FMLA or for involvement in any proceeding under or relating to the FMLA.

Enforcement. An employee may file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Labor or may bring a private lawsuit against an employer.

The FMLA does not affect any federal or state law prohibiting discrimination or supersede any state or local law or collective bargaining agreement which provides greater family or medical leave rights.

Military Leave

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners supports the military obligations of all employees and grants 15 days military training leave, at adjusted pay, per year for uniformed service in accordance with applicable federal and

state laws. Employees must turn in Active-Duty Orders for all active-duty assignments. Adjusted pay means that the County will make up the difference between military pay and regular County base pay.

Any employee who needs extended time off for uniformed service should immediately notify the HR Office and their Department Head/Constitutional Officer who will provide details regarding the leave. Employees must turn in Active-Duty Orders for all active-duty assignments. If an employee is unable to provide notice before leaving for uniformed service, a family member should notify the Department Head/Constitutional Officer as soon as possible and bring a copy of their Active-Duty Orders.

Upon return from military leave, employees will be granted the same seniority, pay, and benefits as if they had worked continuously. Failure to report for work within the prescribed time after completion of military service will be considered a voluntary termination.

All employees who enter military service may accumulate a total absence of five (5) years and still retain employment rights.

Bereavement Leave

Employees may take up to 4 days (32 hours) of paid bereavement leave upon the death of a member of their immediate family. "Immediate family members" are defined as an employee's spouse, domestic partner, parents, stepparents, siblings, children, stepchildren, grandparents, father-in-law, mother-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or grandchild.

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners requires verification of the need for leave. The employee's Department Head/Constitutional Officer and HR Office will consider this time off on a case-by-case basis.

Payment for bereavement leave is computed at the regular hourly rate to a maximum of 8 hours for 1 day. Time off granted in accordance with this policy shall not be credited as time worked for the purpose of computing overtime.

Jury Duty/Court Appearance

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners supports employees in their civic duty to serve on a jury. Employees must present any summons to jury duty to their Department Head/ Constitutional Officer as soon as possible after receiving the notice to allow advance planning for an employee's absence.

The employee will receive Leave with Pay for such duty. If an employee is released from jury duty after 4 hours or less of service, the employee **must** report to work for the remainder of that workday.

Time for appearance in court for personal business will be the individual employee's responsibility. Normally, PTO days will be used for this purpose.

Time Off for Voting

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners recognizes that voting is a right and privilege of being a citizen of the United States and encourages employees to exercise their right to vote. In almost all cases, employees will have sufficient time outside working hours to vote. If for any reason an employee thinks this will not be the case, the employee should contact their Department Head/Constitutional Officer to discuss scheduling accommodation.

IX. Employee Benefits

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners recognizes the value of benefits to employees and their families. The County supports employees/elected officials by offering a comprehensive and competitive benefits program. For more information regarding benefit programs, please refer to the Lamar County Board of Commissioners Benefit Enrollment Guide and contact the HR/Payroll Office to receive a copy.

Medical Insurance. Only full-time employees/elected officials shall be eligible to receive any employee benefits provided by the County. Full-time employees/elected officials are eligible for insurance on the first day after completion of one full month. The cost of this coverage (basic) for the employee/elected official is paid for in full by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners. The difference in cost for the buy-up plan is funded solely by the employee/elected official. The cost for family members is funded solely by the employee/elected official.

Dental and Vision Insurance. Only full-time employees/elected officials shall be eligible to receive any employee benefits provided by the County. Full-time employees/elected officials are eligible for insurance on the first day after completion of one full month. The cost of this coverage for the employee is paid in full by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners. The cost for family members is funded solely by the employee/elected official.

Brella (Supplemental Insurance). Only full-time employees/elected officials shall be eligible to receive any employee benefits provided by the County. Full-time employees/elected officials are eligible for insurance on the first day after completion of one full month. The cost of this coverage for the employee is paid in full by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners. The cost for family members is funded solely by the employee/elected official. Basic Life and AD&D Insurance. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners provides Basic Life and AD&D for full-time employees/elected officials. Full-time employees/elected officials are eligible for Basic Life and AD&D after completion of one full month. The cost of this coverage for the employee/elected official is paid for in full by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners. The cost for family members is funded solely by the employee/elected official.

Employee, Spouse and Child Life Insurance (Voluntary). Voluntary Employee, Spouse and Child Life Insurance is offered to full-time employees/elected officials. Full-time employees/elected officials are eligible for insurance on the first day after completion of one full month. This is a voluntary benefit and is funded solely by the employee/elected official.

Short-Term Disability (Voluntary). Short-term disability is offered to full-time employees/elected officials. Full-time employees/elected officials are eligible for insurance on the first day after completion of one full month. Short-term disability is meant to bridge the 90-day period until long-term disability can cover an employee, if needed. If an employee becomes disabled and cannot work for a brief period of time, this coverage pays a percentage of the employee's salary up to the policy limits. This is a voluntary benefit and is funded solely by the employee/elected official. In addition, employees will not be paid PTO for approved absences covered by the short-term disability program, except to supplement the short-term disability benefits.

Short-term disability benefits will run concurrently with FMLA leave and/or any other leave permitted by state and federal law.

Long-Term Disability (Voluntary). Long-term disability benefits are offered to full-time employees/elected officials. Full-time employees/elected officials are eligible for insurance on the first day after completion of one full month. If an employee becomes totally disabled and cannot work for an extended period of time, this coverage pays a percentage of the employee's salary up to the policy limits. In addition, employees will not be

paid PTO for approved absences covered by the short-term disability program, except to supplement the long-term disability benefits. This is a voluntary benefit and is funded solely by the employee/elected official.

Long-term disability benefits will run concurrently with FMLA leave and/or any other leave permitted by state and federal law.

Employee Assistance Program

The Employee Assistance Program (EAP) is a resource designed to provide highly confidential and experienced help for employees in dealing with issues that affect their lives and the quality of their job performance. Lamar County Board of Commissioners wants employees to be able to maintain a healthy balance of work and family that allows them to enjoy life. The EAP is a confidential counseling and referral service that can help employees successfully deal with life's challenges.

The Employee Assistance Program is offered through Anthem. It is a comprehensive counseling service that offers employees unlimited 24/7 assistance for Counseling, Legal Consultation, Financial Consultation, ID Recovery, Emotional Well-Being Resources, Dependent Care and Daily Living Resources, and Crisis Consultation. Other resources provided by Anthem may be found @ anthemEAP.com. In order to find out more about EAP call 1-800-865-1044 or go online to anthemEAP.com (enter company code: ACCG).

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners encourages employees to use this valuable service whenever they have such a need. Employees who choose to use these counseling services are assured the information disclosed in their sessions is confidential and not available to the Lamar County Board of Commissioners, nor is the Lamar County Board of Commissioners given any information on who chooses to use the services. For questions or additional information about this program, employees may contact the HR/Payroll Office.

X. Retirement

Defined Benefit Pension Plan

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners recognizes the importance of saving for retirement and offers eligible employees a Defined Benefit Pension Plan. Full-time employees, Lamar County Board of Commissioners, and eligible elected officials to the extent provided in the Plan become participants on January 1st following three (3) years of service. Employees will have a vested benefit after five (5) years of Vesting Service.

Eligibility, vesting, and all other matters relating to these plans are explained in the ACCG Retirement Services Enrollment Booklet that can be obtained from HR/Payroll Office.

457(b) Deferred Compensation

Generally, all full-time and part-time employees are eligible to participate in the Plan. You can enroll on the first pay period of any month.

Eligibility, vesting, and all other matters relating to these plans are explained in the ACCG Retirement Services Enrollment Booklet that can be obtained from HR/Payroll Office. Should you have questions about retirement ask for the current Retirement Regional Managers contact information.

XI. Workers' Compensation

Workers' compensation is a "no-fault" system that provides compensation for medical expenses and wage losses to employees who are injured or who become ill because of employment.

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners pays the entire cost of workers' compensation insurance. The insurance provides coverage for related medical and rehabilitation expenses and a portion of lost wages to employees who sustain an injury on the job.

The Lamar County Board of Commissioners abides by all applicable state workers' compensation laws and regulations.

If an employee sustains a job-related injury or illness, it is important to notify the Department Head/Constitutional Officer and HR/Payroll Office immediately. The Department Head/Constitutional Officer will complete an injury report with input from the employee and return the form to the HR/Payroll Office. The HR/Payroll Office will file the claim with ACCG. In cases of true medical emergencies, report to the nearest emergency room.

Workers' compensation benefits (paid or unpaid) will run concurrently with FMLA leave, if applicable, where permitted by state and federal law. In addition, employees will not be paid PTO for approved absences covered by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners Workers' Compensation Program, except to supplement the workers' compensation benefits such as when the plan only covers a portion of the employee's salary as allowed by state law.

XII. Definitions

For the purpose of these policies and procedures, the following terms shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them below, unless another meaning is specifically indicated.

<u>Anniversary Date</u> - The employee's original date of employment with the county service in a permanent position.

<u>Appeal</u> - The right of an employee to appeal a decision in the manner prescribed in these policies and procedures.

<u>Classified Service</u> - The classified service consists of all positions included in the classification and pay plan with the exception of those positions specifically excluded by the County Commission.

<u>Classification and Pay Plan</u> - The system of assigning jobs to classes and to appropriate pay grades.

County Administrator – The person responsible for the day-to-day operations of the County.

<u>Compensatory Time</u> - Time worked in excess of the regular work schedule for the position in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act for State and Local Governments.

<u>Constitutional Officer</u> – The persons filling the offices of Sheriff, Tax Commissioner, Clerk of Superior Court, Magistrate Court Judge, and Probate Judge.

<u>Continuous Service</u> - Continuous service is employment that is uninterrupted except for authorized leaves of absence, suspension, or separation due to a reduction in the work force.

<u>County</u> – This refers to Lamar County, Georgia.

County Commission - This refers to the Lamar County Board of Commissioners.

<u>Demotion</u> - Demotion means a change in the rank of an employee from a position in one class to a position in another class having a lower minimum starting salary and less discretion and/or responsibility.

Department Head - The position with overall administrative responsibility for a department.

<u>Dismissal</u> - The termination of an employee.

<u>Elected Officials</u> - The persons filling the offices of Sheriff, Tax Commissioner, Clerk of Superior Court, Magistrate Court Chief Judge, Probate Judge and Lamar County Board of Commissioners are considered to be elected officials.

<u>Eligible</u> - A person who has completed and passed the prerequisites required under these regulations or who is otherwise qualified to be employed by the County.

<u>Employee</u> - A person, including Department Heads, hired to work for the Lamar County Board of Commissioners for which he or she is compensated on a full-time or part-time basis.

<u>Full Time Employee</u> – An employee who works forty (40) hours per week.

<u>Immediate Family -</u> An employee's wife, husband, mother, father, guardian, son, daughter, brother, sister, grandchild, and grandparent, as well as the various combinations of half, step, in-law, and adopted relationships that can be derived from those family members named herein.

<u>Lay-Off</u> - The separation of an employee from the classified service due to lack of work, lack of funds, abolishment of the position or for other material changes in duties or organization.

Merit Increase - An increase in pay based on an employee's job performance.

<u>Overtime</u> - Time worked in excess of the regular work schedule for the position in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act.

<u>Part-time Employee</u> - An employee who works on a continuing basis, but who works thirty (30) hours or less per week.

<u>Performance Evaluation</u> - A method of evaluating each employee on a periodic basis as to his or her performance on the job.

<u>HR/Payroll Director</u> – The person designated by the County to oversee the Human Resource/Payroll Office of the County.

<u>Probationary Employee</u> - An employee serving the first three (3) months of his or her employment, reemployment, or reinstatement to any position in the classified service. A probationary employee is not a regular employee until completion of the three (3) months probationary period.

<u>Probationary Period</u> - The completion of three (3) months of consecutive employment shall be a period of adjustment for new employees of Lamar County.

<u>Promotion</u> - A change in rank of an employee from a position in one class to a position in another class having a higher minimum salary and carrying a greater scope of discretion and/or responsibility.

Regular Employee - An employee who has completed the probationary period.

<u>Reprimand</u> - A formal means of communicating to an employee that a problem exists and that it must be corrected.

Resignation - The termination of an employee at the employee's request.

<u>Salary Increase</u> - An increase in salary within the salary range prescribed for the class by the classification and pay plan.

<u>Smoking</u> – As defined by O.C.G.A. 31-12A-2; Smoking means inhaling, exhaling, burning, or carrying any lighted tobacco product intended for inhalation, including cigarettes, cigars, and pipe tobacco. Such terms include the use of an electronic smoking device which creates an aerosol or vapor or the use of any oral smoking device for the purpose of circumventing the prohibition of smoking in this chapter.

<u>Suspension</u> - An enforced leave of absence, either with or without pay, for either a disciplinary purpose or pending investigation of charges against an employee.

<u>Temporary Employee</u> - An employee who works on an intermittent, seasonal, or occasional basis and who may work more or less than 30 hours per week while completing a temporary assignment or task.

XIII. Notices and Forms

Notice of Lamar County Board of Commissioners on Employee Use of CBD Products and Marijuana - 50

Employee Handbook Acknowledgment and Agreement – 52

Receipt of Harassment/Sexual Harassment Policy - 54

Lamar County Board of Commissioners Complaint Form – 55

Notice of Lamar County Board of Commissioners Position on Employee Use of CBD Products and Marijuana

(Effective Date: 01/01/2024)

In light of recent developments, such as the legalization and growing availability in Georgia of certain products containing "CBD," as well as the repeal or relaxation of laws in other states pertaining to marijuana and other products containing "THC," the Lamar County Board of Commissioners provides this notice to both remind employees of the Lamar County Board of Commissioners Workplace Safety Policy and to explain the application of the policy in light of these recent developments. Employees are encouraged to carefully review this notice to avoid potential violations of the Workplace Safety Policy.

What Is CBD and How Does It Differ from Marijuana/THC for Purposes of the Lamar County Board of Commissioners Workplace Safety Policy?

- CBD (cannabidiol) and THC (tetrahydrocannabinol) are substances found in both hemp and marijuana. Hemp and marijuana are both types of cannabis.
- While CBD has become associated with some medicinal qualities, it is classified as non-psychoactive.
 THC, on the other hand, is a psychoactive compound—it produces the "high" which results from marijuana use.
- THC is classified as a Schedule I drug under federal law. With certain narrow, medical-based exceptions, it is also classified as a Schedule I drug under Georgia law. Its use is strictly prohibited by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners Wo
- While CBD is not similarly classified as an unlawful substance, it is quite common for CBD-based products to include some amount of THC. Nevertheless, hemp-based CBD products are lawful provided they have no more than 0.3% THC (i.e., 0.003 less than one-third of one percent). However, because it is a relatively new product in an emerging market, the manufacture of hemp-based CBD products remains highly unregulated. As a result, some CBD products have been found to contain more THC—sometimes significantly more—than advertised. As a result, employees using CBD products may be unknowingly consuming impermissible levels of THC, which could potentially lead to a positive drug test.
- While CBD products containing permissible levels of THC will not trigger a positive result in a traditional drug test, <u>employees who choose to use CBD products do so at their own risk</u>. The Lamar County Board of Commissioners lacks the resources to investigate and determine whether a positive test result for THC originated from the employee's use of a mislabeled CBD product and will not undertake to do so.

How Does the Lamar County Board of Commissioners Workplace Safety Policy Apply to an Employee's Use of Marijuana/THC Under Circumstances Where Such Use Is Lawful?

- The Lamar County Board of Commissioners prohibits employee use of marijuana/THC regardless of
 whether the use occurs on or off duty or on or off Lamar County Board of Commissioners property. To
 be clear, this prohibition also includes employee use of marijuana/THC regardless of whether the use
 occurs in a state or other jurisdiction where such use is considered legal.
- The Lamar County Board of Commissioners Workplace Safety Policy makes no exception for the use of medical marijuana/THC under applicable Georgia law.

Summary.

- The Lamar County Board of Commissioners Workplace Safety Policy relies, in large part, on testing. This
 means that a violation occurs if an employee tests positive for marijuana/THC (among other
 substances).
- From the date of this notice forward, it is irrelevant whether the THC entered the employee's system as
 a result of their use of a mislabeled CBD product. However, the product should still be included on the
 list of recently used prescriptions and over-the-counter medications to be provided to the
 laboratory/testing facility at the time of testing per the Lamar County Board of Commissioners
 Workplace Safety Policy
- From the date of this notice forward, it is irrelevant whether the THC entered the employee's system
 under medically related circumstances considered legal under Georgia law. However, the product
 should still be included on the list of recently used prescriptions and over-the-counter medications to be
 provided to the laboratory/testing facility at the time of testing per the Lamar County Board of
 Commissioners Workplace Safety Policy
- From the date of this notice forward, it is irrelevant whether the THC entered the employee's system while the employee was in a state or other jurisdiction where its use is considered legal.

Important Disclaimers.

This notice focuses only on the use of CBD products and the use of marijuana/THC. It does not address other conduct prohibited or regulated by the Lamar County Board of Commissioners Workplace Safety Policy such as the possession, purchase, or sale of illegal drugs, the unlawful or otherwise improper use of legal drugs, etc. Employees are encouraged to review the policy in its entirety to ensure a proper understanding of its scope.

This notice should not be interpreted as limiting or otherwise altering employees' right to reasonable accommodations for disabilities under the Lamar County Board of Commissioners Equal Opportunity, Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and Reasonable Accommodation Policy. Employees are encouraged to speak with the HR/Payroll Director to determine whether and what kind of reasonable accommodation would be appropriate under the circumstances.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND AGREEMENT

TO BE PLACED IN EMPLOYEE'S PERSONNEL FILE

This is to acknowledge that I have received a copy of the Lamar County, Georgia (the "County"), Personnel Policy. I have read it, and I understand that it sets forth the terms and conditions of my employment as well as the duties, responsibilities, and obligations of employment with the County. I understand and agree that it is my responsibility to abide by the rules, policies, and standards set forth in the Policy.

I ALSO ACKNOWLEDGE THAT MY EMPLOYMENT WITH THE COUNTY IS NOT FOR A SPECIFIED PERIOD OF TIME AND CAN BE TERMINATED AT ANY TIME FOR ANY REASON, WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE OR NOTICE, BY ME OR BY THE COUNTY. I acknowledge that no oral or written statements or representations regarding my employment can alter the foregoing. I also acknowledge that no employee has the authority to enter into an employment agreement -- express or implied -- providing for employment other than at-will.

I also acknowledge that, except for the policies of at-will employment, the County reserves the right to revise, delete, and add to the provisions of this Policy. All such revisions, deletions, or additions must be in writing and must be approved by the County. No oral statements or representations can change the provisions of this Policy. I also acknowledge that, except for the policy of at-will employment, terms and conditions of employment with the County may be modified at the sole discretion of the County with or without cause or notice at any time. No implied contract concerning any employment-related decision or term and condition of employment can be established by any other statement, conduct, policy, or practice.

FINALLY, I UNDERSTAND THAT THE FOREGOING AGREEMENT CONCERNING MY EMPLOYMENT AT-WILL STATUS AND THE COUNTY'S RIGHT TO DETERMINE AND MODIFY THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT IS THE SOLE AND ENTIRE AGREEMENT BETWEEN ME AND THE COUNTY CONCERNING THE DURATION OF MY EMPLOYMENT, THE CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH MY EMPLOYMENT MAY BE TERMINATED, AND THE CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF MY EMPLOYMENT MAY CHANGE. I FURTHER UNDERSTAND THAT THIS AGREEMENT SUPERSEDES ALL PRIOR AGREEMENTS, UNDERSTANDINGS, AND REPRESENTATIONS CONCERNING MY EMPLOYMENT WITH THE COUNTY.

Printed Name		
Signature		
Signature		
Date		

This Personnel Policy (hereinafter, "Policy") contains information about the employment policies and practices of Lamar County, Georgia (hereinafter the "County"). We expect each employee to read this Policy carefully as it is a valuable reference for understanding your job. If you at any time have questions regarding this Policy, please contact your Department Head or the County Administrator. All previously issued Policies and any inconsistent policy statements or procedures communicated either orally or in writing are superseded by this Policy.

Nothing in this Policy, or in any other personnel document, including benefit plan descriptions, is intended to represent or create an implied or written contract, promise, or representation of continued employment for any employee. THE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE COUNTY AND ANY EMPLOYEE IS AT-WILL AND MAY BE TERMINATED WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE AND WITH OR WITHOUT NOTICE AT ANY TIME, AT THE DISCRETION OF THE COUNTY. Only the County Administrator with the express written approval of the Board of Commissioners has the authority to alter the default nature of county employment as being at-will. Only on the rarest occasion will the County modify the at-will status of an employee. Should the County alter an employee's at-will status, the County will only do so in writing, and a copy of said writing must be kept in the employee's personnel file.

This Policy contains the Personnel Policy and procedures adopted by the County and is intended for informational purposes only. It does not contain all the information you will need during the course of your employment. You will receive additional information regarding your employment through various notices as well as orally through your Department Head or the County Administrator. If you have any questions regarding this Policy or you would like additional information, please contact your Department Head or the County Administrator.

The County is committed to reviewing its policies, procedures, and benefits periodically. Accordingly, the policies, procedures and benefits outlined in this Policy are subject to review and change by the County at any time with or without notice to County employees. Except for the policy of at-will employment, which can only be changed by the County in writing, the County reserves the right to revise, delete, and add to the provisions of this Policy. All such revisions, deletions, or additions must be in writing and must be approved by the County. No oral statements or representations can change the provisions of this Policy.

Please acknowledge receipt of your copy of the County Personnel Policy by signing the Acknowledgement Form at the end of this Policy and return it to the County Administrator for inclusion in your personnel file within three (3) days of receipt of the policy.

Receipt of Harassment/Sexual Harassment Policy

	MENT/SE							COMMISSI OYEE HAND	
Employe	e's Name	in Prir	nt						
Signature	e of Emp	loyee							
 Date Sign	ned by Er	nploye	 e						
TO BE PL	ACED IN	EMPLO	OYEI	E'S PERSON	NEL FILE				

Lamar County Board of Commissioners Complaint Form

Name:	Date:
Title:	Phone Number:
Status Employee Customer	
Department Head Other: (Specify)	
Department:	
Address:	
Date of Incident:	Time of Incident:
Location of Incident:	
Please describe the incident in detail:	
If there are others who have witnessed the incident,	please provide their names and department:
if there are others who have withessed the incluent,	please provide their names and department.
Is this the first time you have raised this concern abo	ut this person?
Yes No	
Printed Name	
Signature	